Gene polymorphisms of cytokines and heat shock protein in inflammatory and immune-related diseases

Ph.D. Thesis

Attila Balog

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunobiology University of Szeged Faculty of Medicine

Szeged

2005



Contents

Pub	lications r	elated to the subject of the Thesisi				
Abb	reviations	ii				
1.	1. Introduction1					
	1.1. Cytokines					
		1.1.1. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha1				
		1.1.2. Transforming growth factor-beta				
		1.1.3. Genetic variations in cytokines4				
	1.2.	Heat shock proteins4				
	1.3.	CD14 receptor				
	1.4.	Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms				
		1.4.1. Definition and general features of SNP-s				
		1.4.2. SNP of TNF-α gene				
		1.4.3. SNP of HSP70-2 gene				
		1.4.4. SNP of CD14 receptor gene				
		1.4.5. SNP of TGF-B1 gene				
	1.5.	Cytokines, HSP70-2, CD14 receptor in diseases				
		1.5.1. Acute pancreatitis				
		1.5.2. Myelodysplastic syndrome10				
		1.5.3. Rheumatoid arthritis11				
		1.5.4. Anti-TNF therapy				
	Aims					
2.	Patien	ts and Methods				
	2.1.	Patients				
		2.1.1. Patient group with acute pancreatitis14				
		2.1.2. Patient group in a family with rheumatoid arthritis				
		2.1.3. Patient group treated with anti-TNF-α therapy14				
		2.1.4. Patient group with MDS belonging to the refractory anemia subtype15				
		2.1.5. Control group15				
	2.2.	DNA extraction				

2.3. Determination of the TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism16
2.4. Determination of the TGF- β 1 T ²⁹ \rightarrow C polymorphism16
2.5. Determination of the HSP70-2 1267 A \rightarrow G polymorphism17
2.6. Determination of the CD14 -159 C \rightarrow T gene-polymorphism
2.7. Detection of TNF- α in supernatant of whole blood cultures
2.8. Isolation of human mononuclear cells
2.9. Intracellular staining of TNF-α19
2.10. Detection of apoptosis with annexin V19
2.11. Measurement of intracellular procalcitonin by flow cytometric analysis20
2.12. Statistical analysis20
3. Results
3.1. Correlation of TNF- α , HSP70-2, and CD14 gene polymorphisms and the
severity of acute pancreatitis
3.1.1. The TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism21
3.1.2. The HSP70-2 1267 A \rightarrow G polymorphism21
3.1.3. The CD14 -159 C \rightarrow T gene-polymorphism22
3.1.4. TNF-α, PCT and acute pancreatitis
3.2. Prevalence of TNF- α and Heat-shock protein 70-2 gene polymorphisms in a
family with rheumatoid arthritis23
3.3. The prognostic value of TNF- α gene polymorphism among patients treated
with anti-TNF- α therapy, and the effect of anti-TNF- α therapy on TNF- α
production and apoptosis24
3.3.1. The TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism in patients treated with
infliximab24
3.3.2. Effect of infliximab therapy on TNF- α production24
3.3.2.1. Effect of infliximab therapy on in vitro TNF- α
production by WBCs24
3.3.2.2. Effect of infliximab on intracellular TNF- α content of
monocytes25
3.3.3. Effect of infliximab on apoptosis of PBMCs25

	3.4.	. TNF- α and TGF- β 1 gene polymorphism among patients with MDS belonging				
		to the refractory anemia subtype26				
		3.4.1. The TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism26				
		3.4.2. The TGF-B1 $T^{29} \rightarrow C$ polymorphism				
4.	Discus	ssion				
	4.1.	TNF- α , HSP70-2, and CD14 gene polymorphisms in acute pancreatitis28				
	4.2.	TNF- α and Heat-shock protein 70-2 gene polymorphisms in a family with				
		rheumatoid arthritis				
	4.3.	The prognostic value of TNF- α gene polymorphism among patients treated				
		with anti-TNF- α therapy, and the effect of anti-TNF- α therapy on TNF- α				
		production and apoptosis				
	4.4.	TNF- α and TGF- β 1 gene polymorphism among patients with MDS belonging				
		to the refractory anemia subtype				
5.	Sumn	nary: conclusions and potential significance				
6.	Epilo	gue				
7.	Refer	ences				
8.	Ackn	owledgements				
9.	Anne	K				

Publications related to the subject of the Thesis

- Balog A, Gyulai Z, Boros LG, Farkas G, Takacs T, Lonovics J, Mandi Y. Polymorphism of the TNF-alpha, HSP70-2, and CD14 genes increases susceptibility to severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2005;30(2):e46-50.
- II. Balog A, Ocsovszki I, Mandi Y. Flow cytometric analysis of procalcitonin expression in human monocytes and granulocytes. Immunol Lett. 2002;84(3):199-203.
- III. Balog A, Gal J, Gyulai Z, Zsilak S, Mandi Y. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha and heatshock protein 70-2 gene polymorphisms in a family with rheumatoid arthritis. Acta Microbiol Immunol Hung. 2004;51(3):263-9.
- IV. Balog A, Klausz G, Gal J, Molnar T, Nagy F, Ocsovszky I, Gyulai Z, Mandi Y. Investigation of the prognostic value of TNF-alpha gene polymorphism among patients treated with infliximab, and the effects of infliximab therapy on TNF-alpha production and apoptosis. Pathobiology. 2004;71(5):274-80.
- V. Balog A, Borbenyi Z, Gyulai Z, Molnar L, Mandi Y. Clinical Importance of Transforming Growth Factor-3 But Not of Tumor Necrosis Factor-a Gene Polymorphisms in Patients with the Myelodysplastic Syndrome Belonging to the Refractory Anemia Subtype. Pathobiology 2005;72(3):165-70.

i

Abbreviations

ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrome
ARMS	amplification refractory mutation system
CD	Crohn's disease
CRP	C – reactive protein
CT	calcitonin
CT	computer thomograpy
DMARDs	disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
FAB	French-American-British classification
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
GM-CSF	granulocyte/machrophage colony-stimulating factor
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HSPs	heat shock proteins
IFN-γ	interferon-γ
IL-1	interleukin
KC	katakalcin
LPS	lipopolysaccharides
MAbs	monoclonal antibodies
MDS	myelodysplastic syndrome
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
NK cells	Natural Killer cells
PBMCs	peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PCT	procalcitonin
PI	propidium iodide
RA	refractory anemia
RAr	rheumatoid arthritis
RFLP	restriction fragment length polymorphism
SIRS	systemic inflammatory response syndrome
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
TGF-ß	transforming growth factor-beta
TLR4	toll-like receptor-4
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-alpha
US	ultrasound
WBCs	whole blood cultures
WHO	World Health Organization

1. Introduction

1.1. Cytokines

Cytokine is a term applied to any of a rapidly growing number of small, proteins or glycoproteins that serve as messengers between cells and are involved in such processes as cell growth and differentiation, tissue repair and remodelling, and regulation of the immune response. In acute and chronic inflammation, cytokines are instrumental in regulating the magnitude, nature, and duration of the inflammatory response [1]. Cytokines also stimulate or inhibit the development of hematopietic cells.

General properties of cytokines: they are polypeptides produced in response to microbes and other antigens that mediate and regulate immune and inflammatory reactions. Cytokine secretion is a brief, self-limited event. The actions of cytokines are often pleiotropic and redundant. Cytokines often influence the synthesis and actions of other cytokines. Most cytokines act close to where they produced, either on the same cell that secretes the cytokine (autocrine action) or on a nearby cell (paracrine action). When produced in large amounts, cytokines may enter the circulation and act at a distance from the site of production (endocrine action) [2]. Cytokines initiate their actions by binding to specific membrane receptors on target cells. External signals regulate the expression of cytokine receptors and thus the responsiveness of cells to cytokines. The cellular responses to most cytokines consist of changes in gene expression of in target cells, resulting in the expression of new functions and sometimes in the proliferation of the target cells.

In clinical medicine, cytokines are important as therapeutic agents and as targets for specific antagonists in numerous immune and inflammatory diseases [3].

1.1.1. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) is produced during immune and host defense responses as a primary mediator of immune regulation and the inflammatory response. The major cellular source of TNF- α is activated mononuclear phagocytes, although antigenstimulated T cells, Natural Killer (NK) cells, and mast cells can also secrete this protein [4]. In macrophages, TNF- α synthesis can be induced by a wide range of stimuli for example bacterial products such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS), other cytokines: interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-2, interferon- γ (IFN- γ), granulocyte/machrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), TNF- α itself, complement, X-ray radiation, tumor cells, ischemia and trauma. In other cell types, other stimuli are effective: engagement of the T-cell receptor in T lymphocytes, crosslinking of surface immunoglobulin in B lymphocytes, ultraviolet light in fibroblasts and phorbol esters and viral infections in many other cell types [5, 6]. The principal physiologic function of TNF- α is to stimulate the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to sites of infection and to activate these cells to eradicate microbes. TNF- α mediates these effects by several actions on vascular endothelial cells and leukocytes [7, 8]. The biology of TNF- α is also characterized by its pathologic activities in many immune-mediated diseases. The net effects of TNF- α are influenced by a complex array of cell- and tissue-specific factors [7]. The diverse role of TNF- α in mediating cellular responses are: the activation and induction of other cytokines such as IL-1, 6, 8, IFN-y, transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-B), in monocytes-macrophages [9, 10] and inhibition of differentiation and suppression of proliferation of these cells; increased adherence to extracellular matrix and increasing phagocytic capacity of polymorphonuclear leukocytes; modulation of angiogenesis [11, 12, 13] increasing permeability and enhanced expression of major histocompatibility complex I (MHC I) of vascular endothelial cells. TNF- α also plays an important role in the antitumor activity by inducing cell apoptosis [14, 15, 16]. TNF- α can induce the synthesis of IL-12 and IL-18, two cytokines that are potent inducers of IFN- γ . Therefore TNF- α , by itself and through up-regulation of IL-12 and IL-18, amplifies the T_{Helper}1 response, increasing CD4+ Tcell activation and IFN-y production [17, 18]. The main in vivo effects are fever [19], anorexia [20], altered pituitary hormone secretion in central nervous system [21], and shock [22], acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) [23], and capillary leakage syndrome in cardiovascular system [24]. The concentration of TNF- α also influence its biological actions: at low concentrations, TNF- α acts on leukocytes and endothelium to induce acute inflammation; at moderate concentrations, TNF- α mediates the systemic effects of inflammation; at high concentrations, TNF- α causes the pathologic abnormalities of septic shock [25].

1.1.2. Transforming growth factor-beta

Virtually every cell in the body, including epithelial, endothelial, hematopietic, neuronal, and connective-tissue cells produces TGF-ß and has receptor for it. TGF-ß regulates

the proliferation and differentiation of cells, embryonic development, wound healing, and angiogenesis [26]. It is actually a family of closely related molecules encoded by distinct genes, commonly designated TGF-B1, TGF-B2, TGF-B3. Cells of the immune system synthesize mainly TGF-B1 [27]. The principal action of TGF-B in the immune system is to inhibit the proliferation and activation of lymphocytes and other leukocytes [28]. Some regulatory T cells produce TGF-B, and the same cells may also produce IL-10, which, like TGF-B, has immunosuppressive activities. TGF-B inhibits the proliferation and differentiation of T cells and the activation of macrophages [29]. TGF-B also acts on other cells, such as neutrophils and endothelial cells, largely to counteract the effects of proinflammatory cytokines [30]. Mice in which the TGF-B1 gene has been knocked out develop uncontrolled inflammatory lesions such as cardiac, pulmonary, and gastric inflammation suggesting the immunosuppressive effects of TGF-ß [31, 32]. By these actions, TGF-ß functions to inhibit immune and inflammatory responses. TGF-B has many diverse actions outside the immune system. TGF-ß is one of the most potent regulators of the production and deposition of extracellular matrix [33]. TGF-B stimulates fibroblasts and other cells to produce extracellular-matrix proteins and cell-adhesion proteins, including collagen, fibronectin, and integrins and parallel TGF-B decreases the production of enzymes that degrade the extracellular matrix, including collagenase, heparinase, and stromelysin [34], and increases the production of proteins that inhibit enzymes that degrade the extracellular matrix, including plasminogen-activator inhibitor type I and tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease [35]. TGF-B directly stimulates angiogenesis in vivo [36, 37]. In normal cells, TGF-B acts as a tumor suppressor by inhibiting cellular proliferation or by promoting cellular differentiation or apoptosis [38, 39]. However, TGF-B has been suggested to play a dual role, acting as a tumor suppressor in early stages, through its antiploriferative activity, and as a tumor promoter in later stages, by enhancing tumor cell motility and invasiveness [40]. Increases or decreases in the production of TGF-B have been linked to numerous disease states, including atherosclerosis [41] and fibrotic disease of the kidney [42], lung [43] and liver [44]. Mutations in the genes for TGF-B, its receptors, or intracellular signaling molecules associated with TGF-B are also important in the pathogenesis of disease, particularly cancer [45] and hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia [46].

1.1.3. Genetic variations in cytokines

Recent work has shown a high degree of polymorphism in the cytokine genes involved in inflammation and immunity [47]. Cytokine gene polymorphisms (deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sequence variations) are frequently in regions of the gene that regulate transcription or post-transcriptional events, and so can be functionally significant. The inflammatory response, therefore, is genetically programmed both quantitatively and qualitatively, with some people having a very vigorous response and others a more measured response to the same stimulus [48]. The genetically determined capacity of cytokine production and release may contribute to a wide range of clinical manifestations of inflammatory disease: a patient with peritonitis, for example, may present without symptoms of sepsis and recover within days or may suffer from fulminant septic shock, resulting death in hours [49]. Deduced from pathophysiological related pathways and close metabolic interactions, different clusters of candidate genes are of interest. As a consequence, all genes encoding products for inflammation (i.e., proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines) and for the host defense mechanism (heatshock proteins) represent potential candidates for inflammatory and immune-related diseases [50].

1.2. Heat shock proteins

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are highly evolutionarily conserved proteins found in all prokaryotes and eukaryotes that are expressed in physiologic and pathologic conditions. In normal physiological conditions, HSPs are expressed at low levels and localize intracellular [51]. However, a wide variety of stressful stimuli, including environmental (ultraviolet radiation, heat shock, heavy metals and amino acids), pathological (viral, bacterial or parasitic infections, or fever, inflammation, ischemic injury, malignancy or autoimmunity) or physiological stimuli (cytokines, growth factors, cell differentiation, hormonal stimulation or tissue development), induce a substantial increase in intracellular HSP synthesis, known as the stress response [52, 53, 54]. Its ability to protect cells from the deleterious effects of inflammation is based on refolding and stabilizing denatured protein aggregates (molecular chaperoning) [55, 56], on prevention of DNA strand breaks induced by reactive oxygen species [57], and on transcriptional inhibition of potentially deleterious proinflammatory mediators such as TNF- α and IL-1 [58]. Stress proteins particularly the HSP70 family have a

key role in many diseases [59]. In humans, three members of the HSP70 gene referred to as HSP70-1, HSP70-2 and HSP70-Hom has been mapped [60]. Among them, HSP70-1 and HSP70-2 encode the same protein, which is referred as to inducible HSP70. Recent studies indicate the protective effect of HSP70 in hypoxia-related diseases such as ischaemic heart disease [61], stroke [62], ischaemic acute renal failure [63]. They protect transplanted tissues and organs [64, 65], act against the multiple damage of chronic diseases such as diabetes [66], or neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease [67] and Parkinson's disease [68]. The activation, and role in antigen presentation of stress proteins can be used as an anticancertherapy [69] and they can also increase longevity [70]. Overexpressed and conserved stressproteins become primary targets of autoimmunity, through infection-induced molecular mimicry. Increased levels of antibodies against the inducible form of the HSPs were found in patients with autoimmune diseases [71, 72]. Recently, exogenous HSP70 was found to bind with high specificity to the surface of human monocytes and acts as a cytokine by stimulating cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway [53].

1.3. CD14 receptor

The CD14 receptor is a glycoprotein localized on the cell surface of all myeloid cells, especially on monocytes and macrophages [73]. The LPS-LPS binding protein complex binds this glycosylphophatidylinositol-anchored membrane protein, membranous CD14 to (mCD14), on monocytes and macrophages and activates these cells [74]. CD14 initiates the cvtokine cascade by acting as a pattern recognition receptor and exhibiting binding specificity for molecules that allow CD14 to initiate innate immune responses. Soluble CD14 (sCD14), which lacks a glycosylphophatidylinositol anchor, can also be found in plasma. Endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells, lacking their own mCD14, are directly activated by LPSsCD14 complex [75, 76]. The action of CD14 is exerted through the activation of Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4), a transmembrane co-receptor to CD14, in response to LPS [77]. Membrane-associated TLRs recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns [78] and it can be stimulated by highly-purified LPS. However, the major function of CD14 is the recognition of LPS and other microbial products, CD14 has been discovered to be a multifunctional molecule. Furthermore, human CD14 mediates the recognition and phagocytosis of "self" components, such as apoptotic cells [79, 80]. mCD14 in macrophages

and possibly sCD14 contribute to the clearance of apoptotic cells. mCD14 in macrophages may interact with apoptotic cells and bind to apoptotic-cell-associated molecule patterns as well as to pathogen-associated molecular patterns [81]. Interestingly, expression of CD14 on the surface of monocytes seems to promote monocyte survival and antagonize apoptosis, while downregulation of mCD14 parallels apoptosis [82, 83]. sCD14 levels in plasma rise rapidly by 45-75% during endotoxaemia, which is compatible with the criteria for an acute-phase protein [84, 85].

1.4. Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms

1.4.1. Definition and general features of SNP-s

The Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) is a form of genetic diversity in the population; it can be found anywhere in the genome and each person has a lot of SNPs. A nucleotide change in a given sequence is named as "mutation" if its frequency is less than 1% in the general population and as "polymorphism" if its frequency is higher than 1% [50]. In this context, the term mutation is applied to monogenic diseases in which a genetic variation causes a relatively clear-cut phenotypic effect, whereas the term polymorphisms is almost always used when referring to complex genetic traits such as congenital heart disease, essential hypertension, or insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. In this respect, genetic polymorphisms are considered to be consistently found in "normal" population samples, even if their allele frequencies differ largely from one sample to another and among different ethnic groups. When referring to case-control studies, we would expect that a given candidate polymorphism is more frequently found in the case than in the control sample if it confers a risk for a given disease, as has been shown for the angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism [86]. On the other hand, the polymorphism might be less frequently found in the case than in the control sample if it conferred a protective function against, for example, myocardial infarct, as has been suggested for the minor allele Pro715 of the P-selectin gene [87]. In contrast to the microsatellites- another form of genetic variability-SNPs are more stable since they differ from each other in only one nucleotide. The international SNP Mapping Workshop is a consortium of the New York Cold Spring Harbor Laboratoy, National Center for Biotechnology Information, Washington, DC, the British Sanger Center, the Washington University, St. Louis, MO, and the Whitehead Center for Genome Research, Cambridge, MA. The consortium has identified 1.433.393 SNPs so far (September of 2004). On average every 2 kb sequence is containing one SNP.

If a gene is defined as the coding region and 10 kb upstream then 59% of the human genes are containing 5 or more, and 39% are containing 10 or more SNPs. However, there are less SNPs on the sex chromosomes.

One possible use of SNPs is the investigation of the evolution. Comparing different subpopulations under different conditions we can understand how could a definite SNP subsist (what are the advantages or disadvantages carrying a certain SNP form). Another application of SNPs is DNA fingerprints for criminal and for affiliation orders. Third, SNPs are excellent markers for mapping polygenic-features. Fourth is application for genotype-specific treatment of diseases namely pharmacogenomics [88].

1.4.2. SNP of TNF- α gene

The human TNF locus lies in a region recently reclassified as MHC class IV (previously class III) [89] on the short arm of chromosome 6 at the p21.3 locus [90]. There are many SNPs within the TNF- α gene promoter. The most investigated is a polymorphism at position –308 in the promoter region. This polymorphism results in two allelic forms, 1 in which guanine defines the common allele TNF1 and 1 in which an adenosine defines the uncommon allele TNF2 [91]. *In vitro* studies demonstrated that the TNF2 allele is associated with higher TNF- α production [92, 93]. Subjects carrying a TNF2 allele had also significantly higher TNF- α concentrations *ex vivo* than TNF1 homozygotes [94]. Higher frequency of the TNF2 allele in patients with septic shock [95] and a higher mortality rate from septic shock in carriers of a TNF2 allele were described [96]. The TNF2 allele has been also associated with variety of inflammatory disorders, including systemic lupus erythematosus, dermatitis herpetiformis, and celiac disease [97].

1.4.3. SNP of HSP70-2 gene

Besides environmental factors, genetic polymorphisms were also suggested to influence the production of the members of the HSP70 family. HSP70-2 encodes the major heat-inducible HSP70. The gene of HSP70-2 such as TNF- α gene is an MHC-linked gene lies in the central class III region on the short arm of the chromosome 6. HSP70-2 gene has been

shown to be polymorphic [60]. A polymorphic A to G transition *Pst*I site at position 1267 was identified in the coding region of HSP70-2 and individuals homozygous for the HSP70-2 G allele display a decrease in inducible HSP70-2 mRNA expression [98]. Recent studies indicate that HSP70-2 A(1267)G polymorphism is associated with increased risks and poor outcomes of several diseases [99, 100, 101, 102]. The susceptibility to multiple organ damage may also depend on the ability of the organism to express sufficient amount of HSPs.

1.4.4. SNP of CD14 receptor gene

The CD14 gene is located within a cytokine gene cluster in the chromosomal region 5q22-32. A SNP in the promoter of the CD14 gene (C/T at position -159) has been described; this is often referred to as -260 due to numbering from the translation start. The patients with genotypes carrying the T allele at the -159 site of the promoter region of the CD14 gene have higher sCD14 levels than subjects with the non-T genotype [103] and the density of monocyte CD14 receptors was also significantly higher in the TT homozygotes [104]. A large clinical study found this polymorphism associated with the risk for Crohn disease [105] and homozigousity of the T allele was also associated with a history of myocardial infarct in the subgroup of older low-risk patients [106]. The frequency of the TT genotype tended to be increased in subjects with duodenal ulcer and gastric ulcer compared with the *H.pylori*⁺ and *H.pylori*⁻ subjects without peptic ulcer [84]. Thus, the CD14 promoter genotype may affect inflammatory processes.

1.4.5. SNP of TGF-\$1 gene

It has been demonstrated that the production of TGF- β varies from individual to individual and partly depends on the polymorphisms of these genes [107]. The human gene encoding TGF- β 1 is located on chromosome 19q13 [108]. All positions of the TGF- β 1 gene are defined relative to the first major transcription start site (position +1). The first +840 bases are a nontranslated region and codon one begins at position +841 [109]. Several SNPs have been described in the TGF- β 1 gene, including a T-to-C transition at nucleotide 29 at position +869, in the region encoding the signal sequence, which results in a leucine-proline substitution at the 10th amino acid [110]. It has been shown that TT homozygous genotypes are high TGF- β 1 producers [111, 112, 113]. The correlation between the TGF- β 1 gene

polymorphism and the disease status has been studied in a diverse range of diseases such as heart diseases [114, 115], acute human liver graft rejection [116], idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [117], hypertension [118], myocardial infarction [119], atherosclerosis [120, 121, 122] colon, ovarian, breast cancers; diabetic nephropathy, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [123], multiple sclerosis and osteoporosis [110].

1.5. Cytokines, HSP70-2, CD14 receptor in diseases

The pleiotropic effects of cytokines and their essential role together with the heat shock proteins can't be proved better than realizing their importance in diseases with seemingly completely different etiology.

1.5.1. Acute pancreatitis

Acute pancreatitis is a relatively common disease with an annual incidence of 10-20 cases per 100,000 population in the Western world. The majority of cases are alcohol related or due to gallstones [124]. Although many etiological factors are known to be involved in triggering acute pancreatitis, however, once the inflammatory process has been initiated, the ultimate outcome is relatively independent of the causative agent. Furthermore, acute pancreatitis has a wide spectrum of clinical manifestations, which ranges from a mild edematous, self-limited disease with a fair prognosis to severe necrotizing inflammation with a fatal outcome [125]. The overall mortality rate is about 10%, but in its most severe form, which is characterized by pancreatic necrosis, 20%-30% of patients die. The cause of death in most patients does not seem to be related specifically to the pancreatic inflammation or even to the infection of the necrotic pancreas or peripancreatic tissue that may occur. Rather death is often the result of multiorgan system failure [126]. In fact, multiple organ failure and septic complications in acute pancreatitis do not differ from the systemic complications of other diseases such as sepsis itself, trauma, or burn, which are included in a special group of diseases, namely the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). The symptoms in different SIRS diseases might be very similar in consequence of tremendous activation of the cytokine cascade and inflammatory reactions.

The systemic manifestations of acute pancreatitis are now believed to be owing to the local and systemic actions of specific inflammatory cytokines [127]. TNF- α , the early cytokine to be released, is a principal mediator of immune responses to endotoxin and other

stimuli. It can be produced in large amounts in several organs during acute severe pancreatitis and is also believed to mediate pathophysiological changes [128, 129]. TNF- α can mirror the clinical signs of septic shock: hypermetabolism, fever, coagulopathies, increases vascular permeability, and vasodilatation [130]. Systemic release of TNF- α is associated with septic shock and fatal outcome. TNF- α levels are increased in patients with acute severe pancreatitis and septic shock and appear to correlate with clinical outcome [131]. The systemic manifestations are responsible for the majority of pancreatitis-associated morbidity and mortality and are due to the actions of specific proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-8. It has been suggested that the clinical course of an acute inflammatory illness such as acute pancreatitis may have a genetic basis because certain genetic polymorphisms may operate functional differences and hence the outcome of the inflammatory process.

The preinduction of pancreatic HSPs expression has been shown to have a protective effect in different experimental acute pancreatitis model [132].

1.5.2. Myelodysplastic syndrome

The myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) comprises a distinct, albeit heterogeneous group of hematopoietic disorders characterized by the patients' generally elderly ages, hematopoietic insufficiency associated with cytopenias leading to potentially serious morbidity (transfusion-dependent anemia, bleeding manifestations) and mortality (death from infection in the setting of neutropenia), plus the additional risk of leukemic transformation. French-American-British (FAB) classification The categorized patients initially morphologically for the diagnostic evaluation of MDS [133]. MDS patients have been classified by FAB as having 1 of 5 subtypes of disease: Refractory anemia (RA): < 5% marrow blasts; RA with ringed sideroblasts (RARS): < 5% blasts plus \geq 15% ringed sideroblasts; RA with excess of blasts (RAEB): 5-20% marrow blasts; RAEB in transformation (RAEB-t): 21-30% marrow blasts; and chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML): ≤20% marrow blasts plus monocytosis > 1000/mm³ [134]. Although a substantial proportion of MDS cases evolve to acute myeloid leukemia (AML), the natural history of these syndromes ranges from more indolent forms of disease spanning years to those with a rapid evolution to AML. Thus, MDS is best considered a preleukemic disorder in which the neoplastic clone that has been established may or may not fully progress to acute leukemia

[135]. Cytogenetic and molecular studies support the concept that the stepwise accumulation of genomic damage in the hematopoiesis is central in the natural disease course of MDS, but it is generally accepted that the hematopoietic microenvironment is also active in the hematopoietic failure. Abnormal cytokine production, autoreactive T-lymphocytes and an altered interaction between the progenitor cells and the extracellular matrix can all promote apoptosis. The high rate of apoptosis in bone marrow of MDS mainly RA and RARS patients was described, and this [136] excessive apoptosis in patients with "early stage" myelodysplasia (RA, RARS) is a major characteristic of MDS. Excessive production of growth-inhibitory cytokines such as TNF- α was demonstrated in bone marrow plasma of patients with MDS [137, 138]. Transforming growth factor $-\beta$ (TGF-beta) is another cytokine which is generally considered to be a key negative regulator of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. It was shown that the inhibitory effect of TGF-B on human hematopietic progenitor cells is clearly mediated through the Smad5 gene [139, 140]. The bone marrow apoptotic rate was found 7-9.5 times higher among MDS patients than in controls [136, 141]. Moreover, one of the main new directions in the treatment of MDS is the use of compounds which exert inhibitory activity on proapoptotic cytokines [142, 143, 144]. In spite of the obvious importance of cytokines in MDS, there are only few genetic data on polymorphisms of TNF- α but there are no genetic data of TGF- β , whether they influence occurrence of MDS or response to immunosuppressive therapy in this disease [145].

1.5.3. Rheumatoid arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RAr) is a common human autoimmune disease is characterized by chronic inflammation of the synovial joints and infiltration by blood-derived cells, chiefly memory T cells, macrophages, and plasma cells, all of which show signs of activation [146]. This leads in most cases to progressive destruction of cartilage and bone, which occurs after invasion of these tissues by the cellular synovial tissue, and is believed to be mediated by cytokine induction of destructive enzymes, such as matrix metalloproteinases. Much clinical and experimental evidence exists for the pivotal role of TNF- α in RAr pathogenesis [147]. TNF- α is found at elevated levels in the pannus, the region of tissue damage in the RAr joint [148]. TNF- α , synergistically with IL-1, induces a cytokine cascade which results in the production of matrix metalloproteinases [149]. Furthermore, overexpression of human TNF- α



alone in transgenic mice can induce a polyarthritis similar to RAr [150]. A role for HSPs in RAr has been suggested because they are a major target of the immune response and are common autoantigens in autoimmune diseases [151]. However, the precise etiology and pathogenesis of RAr is still incompletely understood, many genes interact to produce the final clinical phenotype of RAr and other non-genetic factors may also influence the outcome of the disease. The association of RAr with genes of the Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) class II region is well documented, and several DRB1 alleles (in particular HLA-DRB1*04 and *01 alleles) have been associated with RAr susceptibility or severity [152, 153]. The important physiological role TNF- α , and the possible influence of HSPs in RAr and the location of their genes within the MHC has led to speculation about the role the TNF- α gene and HSP70-2 gene itself may play in RAr.

1.5.4. Anti-TNF therapy

The central role of TNF- α in the pathogenesis of RAr and Crohn's disease (CD) has been well documented [154, 155], and TNF- α is therefore an excellent therapeutic target. Therapeutic strategies for reducing the effects of proinflammatory cytokines can be considered to be either specific or nonspecific. A specific anticytokine therapy targets only one cytokine or closely related members of a single cytokine family. The most specific anticytokine is a neutralizing monoclonal antibody [156]. One of the most effective biological agents of them, infliximab, a chimeric anti-TNF antibody, has been shown to be highly effective for the treatment of both patients with CD [157] and patients with RAr [158, 159]. Despite the generally dramatic efficacy of infliximab, some of the patients did not display a clinical response, and the precise mechanism of action of infliximab is only partly understood [159, 160]. Adverse events with TNF inhibitors, including infections and cases of sepsis were also described [161, 162, 163]. We hypothesized that a genetic predisposition might be involved in the level of responsiveness, and some biological changes causing by infliximab were also investigated.

Aims

The aims of this study were to investigate the genetic polymorphisms of TNF- α and/or TGF- β 1 in different disorders. We focused on such gastrointestinal, autoimmune, hematological diseases, where the overproduction of these cytokines might be a predominant factor in the pathomechamisms, or where anti-TNF therapy has been introduced. In a close connection the SNPs of CD14 and HSP70-2 genes were also analyzed. The present study was designed to address the following aims:

Aim 1. To determine the correlation of TNF- α , HSP70-2, and CD14 gene polymorphisms and the severity of acute pancreatitis

Aim 2. To determine the prevalence of TNF- α and HSP70-2 gene polymorphisms in a family with rheumatoid arthritis

Aim 3. To determine the prognostic value of TNF- α gene polymorphism among patients treated with anti-TNF- α therapy, and the effect of anti-TNF- α therapy on TNF- α production and apoptosis

Aim 4. To determine the association between TNF- α and TGF- β 1 gene polymorphism and the susceptibility to myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and the progression of the disease among patients with MDS belonging to the refractory anemia subtype

2. Patients and Methods

2.1. Patients

2.1.1. Patient group with acute pancreatitis

Seventy-seven patients with acute pancreatitis enrolled in a prospective study. The criteria for diagnosis of acute pancreatitis were the clinical history consistent with the disease, radiological evidence and a serum amylase level greater than 660 U/L. Patients entered this prospective study at the Department of Surgery and the I.st Department of Internal Medicine of Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical Center of Szeged University during the time from 03/2003 - 02/2004. All patients were classified as having mild or severe pancreatitis according to the original criteria of Ranson [164]: mild pancreatitis, patients with fewer than three positive prognostic signs (n=29); and severe pancreatitis, patients with three or more positive prognostic signs (n=48). Patients with severe acute necrotizing pancreatitis were divided into aseptic (n=28) or infected (n=20) groups based on bacterial cultures of the necrotic pancreatic tissue sampled during surgery or US- or CT-guided biopsies (Paper I / Table 1).

2.1.2. Patient group in a family with rheumatoid arthritis

Twenty-nine members of a family including 5 sisters with RAr enrolled in this study (Paper III / Figure 1). All RAr patients were diagnosed by using the revised 1987 American College of Rheumatology (ACR) criteria [165]; they took part in regular control examination. This family entered this study at the Department of Rheumatology, County Hospital in Kecskemét.

2.1.3. Patient group treated with anti-TNF- α therapy

Nine patients with DMARD-refractory RAr were diagnosed by the revised 1987 ACR criteria [165]. The infusion regimen of anti-TNF- α therapy was as follows: 3 mg/kg infliximab (Schering Plough) administered at 0, 2 and 6 weeks and then in every 8 weeks for 1 year.

The 14 patients with chronic active CD unresponsive to standard therapy were diagnosed in accordance with the clinical guidelines and on the basis of conventional radiological, endoscopic and histopathologic examinations [166]. Fistulas were a common complication. The infusion regimen of anti-TNF- α was as follows: 5 mg/kg infliximab administered at 0, 2 and 6 weeks.

Patients with RAr entered this prospective study at the Department of Rheumatology, County Hospital, in Kecskemét, and patients with CD entered this study at the I.st Department of Internal Medicine of Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical Center of Szeged University.

All patients took part in regular control examinations.

Following the infliximab therapy, the RAr patients and CD patients were divided into responding and nonresponding groups. (Paper IV / Table 1)

2.1.4. Patient group with MDS belonging to the refractory anemia subtype

Fifty cases with refractory anemia (RA) documented by marrow biopsy were enrolled (12 men and 38 women, age 72.48 +-1.02, 55 to 87). The diagnosis of MDS was based on the FAB criteria [167]. In 4 of these cases, hypoplastic MDS was documented; in all of the other patients, the bone marrow was normocellular or hypercellular, satisfying the morphologic features of RA according to the FAB and WHO criteria: <5% blasts, <15% ringed sideroblasts. Neither a fibrotic form nor secondary MDS was diagnosed. Cytogenetic analysis revealed a normal karyotype in 38 cases, no mitosis in 5 cases, 5q- in 1 case and 8 chromosome abnormalities in 6 cases. The median follow-up was 34.5 months (14-62 months). None of the patients had received specific therapeutic agents prior to the study. They were supported only by red blood cell transfusion. Patients were devided into two groups: mild group containing patients with only anemia (hemoglobin ≤ 100 g/l) (n=30), and severe group containing patients with bi- or pancytopenia (neutrophil count <1 G/l, platelet count <100 G/l) (n=20). Leukemic transformation occurred in 3 patients; another 4 patients died due to the MDS, without leukemic transformation. Patients entered this prospective study at the 2nd Department of Medicine and Cardiology Center of Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical Center of Szeged University and the I.st Department of Internal Medicine of Faculty of Medicine, University of Pécs during the time from 05/2001 -01/2004.

2.1.5. Control group

The control cohort consisted of a random, unrelated population sample involving n=[71-100] healthy blood donors. Involving controls into the study was continuous, that is why the number of controls is different. All patients and controls were of Hungarian ethnic origin and resided in Hungary.

Ethical committee

These studies were performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the most recent version of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. The ethical committee of the participating university had approved the study. Informed written consent was obtained in advance from each of the patients. With the permission of parents from the underage relatives, blood was taken and genetic investigations were performed in the family with RAr.

2.2. DNA extraction

For the examination TNF- α , HSP70-2, TGF- β 1 and CD14 polymorphisms, genomic DNA purified from peripheral blood was used. Leukocyte DNA was isolated using the High Pure PCR Template Preparation Kit according to the manufacturers' instructions (Roche Diagnostic GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) and the genomic DNA was stored at -20° C until further use.

2.3. Determination of the TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism

The G (TNF1) to A (TNF2) transition at position -308 in the promoter region is associated with an elevated expression of TNF- α . This SNP of TNF- α at position -308 in the promoter region was analyzed by PCR-RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism) [5]. The amplified product was digested with the endonuclease *NcoI* and analyzed on a 12% polyacrylamide gel under UV illumination. The TNF G allele gives two fragments, of 87 bp and 20 bp, while the TNF A allele gives a single, 107 bp fragment (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Representative results of typing of patients for SNP of TNF-α gene. Lane 1, TNF 1/2; lane 2, TNF 2/2; lane 3, TNF 1/1; lane 4, molecular weight markers (pUC19DNA/MspI (HpaII) Fermentas)

2.4. Determination of the TGF- $\beta 1$ T²⁹ \rightarrow C polymorphism

The defined single-nucleotide polymorphism T^{29} -C in exon 1 of the human TGF- β 1 gene was determined with an amplification refractory mutation system (ARMS) with a

generic primer (sense), (5'-TCCGTGGGATACTGAGACACC-3'); and with two allelespecific antisense primers, differing from each other in only one base at the 3'-end- primer C: 5'-GCAGCGGTAGCAGCAGCG-3' and primer T: 5'-AGCAGCGGTAGCAGCAGCA-3' [6]. The expected size of the specific amplification product was 241 bp. Samples from 2 known homozygotic individuals and 1 heterozygotic individual, confirmed by sequencing, were included in each reaction. Sequencing was performed with an automated sequencer (ABI Prism; Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Representative results of typing of patients for SNP of TGF-B1 gene. Lane 1-2, TGF T/C; lane 3-4, TGF C/C; lane 5-6, TGF T/T; lane 7, molecular weight markers (pUC19DNA/MspI (HpaII) Fermentas)

2.5. Determination of the HSP70-2 1267 $A \rightarrow G$ polymorphism

HSP70-2 RFLP was assessed by means of a PCR-RFLP procedure using the following primers (sense: 5'-TCCGAAGGACTGAGCTCTTG-3' and antisense: 5'-CAGCAAAGTCCTTGAGTCCC-3') spanning the polymorphic *Pst*I site (nucleotide 1267) [7]. The presence of a *Pst*I site (G allele) was indicated by cleavage of the 2075 bp amplified PCR product to yield fragments of 1159 bp and 916 bp (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Representative results of typing of patients for SNP of HSP70-2 gene. Lane 1, molecular weight markers (Gene RulerTM 100bp DNA Ladder Plus Fermentas); lane 2, HSP70-2 A/G; lane 3, HSP70-2 A/A; lane 4, HSP70-2 G/G

The analysis of the TNF- α , HSP70-2 and TGF- β 1 polymorphisms was based on polymerase chain reaction (PCR) techniques performed in a thermal cycler (GeneAmp PCR System 2700, Applied Biosystems, Foster City CA, USA).

2.6. Determination of the CD14 -159 $C \rightarrow T$ gene-polymorphism

Genotyping for CD14 -159 C \rightarrow T polymorphism was based on a real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT PCR) assay using specific fluorescence-labeled hybridization probes, and by melting point analysis [8]. Based on the derivative melting curves [-(dF/dT) vs T], a sample was classified as genotype TT, CT or CC. The thermocycler was a LightCycler instrument (Roche Diagnostics) (Figure 4).





2.7. Detection of TNF- α in supernatant of whole blood cultures (WBCs)

TNF- α concentrations in the supernatants of WBCs samples of the 9 patients with RA were determined by bioassay, applying the WEHI 164 mouse fibroblast cell line [9]. Human recombinant TNF- α (Amersham) was used as a standard in the same assay. The specificity of the effect of TNF- α in the supernatants was confirmed via the neutralizing effect of monoclonal anti-TNF- α antibody, Clone TA-31 (Sigma product No. T1549). The amounts of TNF- α are expressed in U/ml. In control experiments TNF- α concentrations in the supernatants of WBCs samples were also determined by using TNF- α ELISA kit (BIOSOURCE), according to the instructions of the manufacturer.

2.8. Isolation of human mononuclear cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were prepared by density gradient purification (Ficoll-Paque Sigma) from heparinized venous blood samples from healthy volunteers and from RA patients treated with infliximab and the 95% cell viability was then confirmed by trypan blue staining. Subsequently, 5×10^6 /ml PBMCs suspended in the medium were used in all the experiments. Isolated cells were incubated in RPMI 1640 medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, antibiotics and glutamine.

2.9. Intracellular staining of TNF- α

PBMCs were incubated in RPMI 1640 medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, antibiotics and glutamine for 24/48 h in the presence or absence of infliximab (100 µg/ml). They were then stimulated with heat-killed (90 °C 10 min adjusted to 10^8 /ml) [10] *Staphylococcus aureus* (SA) as TNF inducer in the presence of brefeldin-A (10 µg/ml) for 4 h. After centrifugation, the cells were permeabilized with Cytofix-Cytoperm solution (Becton-Dickinson) for 20 min, thereafter, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled human TNF- α specific monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) were added. Flow cytometric analysis was subsequently performed with a FACStar plus fluorescence-activated cell sorter (Becton-Dickinson) at 488 nm excitation to estimate intracellular TNF- α in the peripheral mononuclear cells. Cells were gated for CD14-positive cells.

2.10. Detection of apoptosis with annexin V

Cell apoptosis was assessed by annexin V – FITC staining with the flow cytometric apoptosis detection kit (PharMingen, Becton Dickinson, Catalog no 556420).

The PBMCs were incubated for 24 to 48 h in the presence or absence of infliximab (100 μ g/ml).Those cells that were negative for both dyes were considered to be live cells; necrotic cells were positive for both fluorochromes or only for propidium iodide (PI); and apoptotic cells were positive only for annexin V - FITC and negative for PI.

2.11. Measurement of intracellular procalcitonin by flow cytometric analysis

The intracellular procalcitonin (PCT) content of cells was estimated via the PCT components calcitonin (CT) and katakalcin (KC) after incubation for 18 h in the presence or absence of heat killed *S. aureus*. Mononuclear cells, granulocytes and U937 cells were permeabilized by Cytoprem solution (Becton-Dickinson). For staining, an indirect immunofluorescence technique was used, applying two MAb to CT and KC (BRAHMS Diagnostica, Berlin). Flow cytometric analysis was performed thereafter with a FACStar plus fluorescence-activated cell sorter (Becton-Dickinson) at 488nm excitation to estimate intracellular CT and KC in peripheral monocytes and granulocytes.

2.12. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses for comparison of allele and genotype frequencies between groups were made by using the χ^2 test, and Fisher's exact test if one cell had n<5. For comparison of age and sex between the patients and the controls, the Mann–Whitney *U* test and the Fisher's exact test was used. The genotype frequencies for each polymorphism were tested for deviation from the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium by means of the χ^2 test, with one degree of freedom used. The levels of intracellular TNF- α production according to the SA inducer and the experimental results on apoptosis were compared by means of one-way ANOVA. The Student-Newman-Keuls test was used for *post hoc* pairwise multiple comparisons. In all tests, an α level of p<0.05 was taken as an indication of statistical significance. All statistical calculations were performed with the GraphPad Prism4 statistical program.

3. Results

3.1. Correlation of TNF- α , HSP70-2, and CD14 gene polymorphisms and the severity of acute pancreatitis

The distributions of genotypes and alleles for the different polymorphisms were consistent with those predicted by the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in the patients and in the controls.

3.1.1. The TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism

Overall, there was no significant difference in the distribution of the TNF -308 genotype between the patients with acute pancreatitis and the healthy controls. However, when the patients were stratified according to disease severity, there was a higher frequency of the TNF 1/2 genotype among patients with the severe disease as compared with the patients with mild pancreatitis. Carriage of the high secreting allele (TNF2) was significantly different between the two groups, although the number of homozygotes itself was very low. Likewise, the frequency of the TNF 1/1 genotype was significantly higher in the patients with mild disease as compared with patients with the severe form of pancreatitis (Paper I / Table 2).

3.1.2. The HSP70-2 1267 $A \rightarrow G$ polymorphism

The genotypic frequencies were significantly different between severe and mild pancreatitis (Table 1). This was due to over-expression of the HSP70-2 G allele in the severe population. The frequency of AG genotype was also significantly higher in the severe group. No significant difference was found however in the frequency of either the A or the G allele between the pancreatitis patients overall and healthy controls. This connotes that the HSP70-2 alleles are not directly implicated in disease predisposition, however patients carrying the G allele might be at higher risk of the severe form of acute pancreatitis. Alternatively, the "protective" AA genotype is markedly more frequent among the patients who have only a mild form of pancreatitis. The frequency of the AA genotype was significantly higher in patients with mild disease, than in the severe form of acute pancreatitis, or even in healthy donors (Figure 5).

surcement of	AA	AG	GG	G%
Mild (n=29)	20/29	7/29	2/29	18.9 (11/58)
Severe (n=48)	7/48	31/48	10/48	53.1 (51/96)
	P < 0.0001	P = 0.0009		P < 0.0001
Total (n=77)	27/77	38/77	12/77	40.2 (62/154)
(n=71)	32/71 ns vs. total	30/71 ns vs total	9/71	35.9 (51/142) ns vs. total

Table 1. HSP70-2 genotype and G allele frequencies (%) in patients with acute pancreatitis and controls.





3.1.3. The CD14 -159 $C \rightarrow T$ gene-polymorphism

We did not find correlation between CD14-159 promoter polymorphism and any forms of the acute pancreatitis investigated herein. Furthermore, there were no significant differences in CD14-159 genotype frequencies between patients and the healthy control group.

3.1.4. TNF-a, PCT and acute pancreatitis

Pancreatitis obviously can be regarded as a prominent disease belonging to SIRS. TNF is a key cytokine orchestrating even the cytokine cascade in SIRS, but half-life of TNF- α is extremely short in the circulation. Even therefore, a relatively new diagnostic marker. procalcitonin (PCT) has recently attracted attention as a possible marker of systemic inflammatory response to infection. The rapid induction of PCT after endotoxin stimulation and its relation to cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 suggest that the stimulation of PCT is closely correlated with the induction of proinflammatory cytokines. In our previous study we found that PCT level was significantly higher $[8.5 \pm 4.8 \text{ ng/mL}]$ in patients with infected pancreatic necrosis [174]. PCT is an excellent, sensitive marker, and a valuable, rapid laboratory test for discriminating infected pancreatic necrosis from sterile pancreatic necrosis. Thus, we further investigated the possible cellular sources of PCT, and the role of TNF in PCT induction. The intracellular expression of PCT was investigated by flow cytometric analysis with intracellular staining with antibodies to the PCT components calcitonin and katacalcin. Both human peripheral monocytes and granulocytes expressed PCT, and increased intracellular amounts of the PCT components were demonstrated after stimulation with Staphylococcus aureus as TNF- α inducer (Paper II / Figure 2). We could demonstrate that TNF- α is the main mediator in the S. aureus induced stimulation of PCT production in monocytes and granulocytes, as the effect could be almost totally abrogated when the cytokine was neutralized by anti-TNF. The TNF-inducing ability of the bacterial cells is responsible for the elevation of the intracellular PCT content.

3.2. Prevalence of TNF- α and Heat-shock protein 70-2 gene polymorphisms in a family with rheumatoid arthritis

Two of the 29 members were homozygotes for TNF 1, 18 of them were heterozygotes TNF 1/2 and 9 of them were homozygotes for TNF 1. Nineteen of the 29 were heterozygotes and none were homozygotes for allele A (HSP70-2), 10 of them were homozygotes for allele G (HSP70-2) (Paper III / Figure 2). Four of the 5 RA patients in this family carried the TNF 2 allele; all 5 were heterozygotes for HSP70-2 genotypes (Paper III / Table 1). Further, among the 19 members of the family who carried the TNF 2 allele, 15 were heterozygotes for HSP70-2, and only 5 were homozygotes for the HSP70-2 G allele. None of the family members were homozygotes for the HSP70-2 A allele (Paper III / Figure 1). The family

members are by definition not genetically independent; therefore the increase in TNF 2 can not be taken to reflect a significant effect of the TNF- α polymorphism, but the accumulation of TNF 2 in this family is striking in contrast with the frequencies of TNF- α alleles among healthy blood donors.

3.3. The prognostic value of TNF- α gene polymorphism among patients treated with anti-TNF- α therapy, and the effect of anti-TNF- α therapy on TNF- α production and apoptosis

3.3.1. The TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism in patients treated with infliximab

The frequency of TNF2 carriers in the patient group (9 patients with RA and 14 patients with CD) was higher as compared with the healthy controls. Almost all of the 9 patients carrying TNF2 allele (8 patients) were non responders (4 RA and 4 CD non responder patients). Eight of the 12 non responder CD or RA patients carried the TNF2 allele (Paper IV / Table 1). Statistical analysis was not applied because of the relatively small number of patients receiving infliximab therapy. However, the high number of TNF2 carriers in the nonresponding group is very striking.

3.3.2. Effect of infliximab therapy on TNF- α production

3.3.2.1. Effect of infliximab therapy on in vitro TNF- α production by WBCs

The *in vitro* TNF- α production by WBCs was determined at different times after infliximab therapy. The TNF- α concentration in the supernatants of the WBCs before infliximab treatment was considerable 527.8±363.2 U/ml. It is noteworthy that those patients who carried the TNF2 alleles exhibited the highest *in vitro* TNF production (data not shown). After the 3rd infusion, the *in vitro* TNF- α production was only 33.0±12.2 U/ml, and after the 4th infusion it was below the detection limit of the assay. When we washed out the infliximab from the WBCs, a marked TNF- α concentration of 319.4±141.3 U/ml was measured even after the 4th infusion (Paper IV / Figure 1). It is very likely that the anti-TNF antibody in the supernatants of the WBCs could neutralize the cytotoxic effect of TNF- α . The reduced TNF simply be due to a TNF- α trapping by infliximab, which is then not recognized either by bioassay or by ELISA.

3.3.2.2. Effect of infliximab on intracellular TNF- α content of monocytes

Following SA stimulation, the *in vitro* TNF- α production by monocytes from the healthy controls was increased significantly, as revealed by an intracellular TNF- α staining method. Pretreatment of mononuclear cells with 100 µg/ml of infliximab for 24 or 48 h did not result in a loss of their TNF-producing ability; the mean fluorescence intensity data for the control and the SA-stimulated cells were significantly different in each experiment, as assessed by the ANOVA test. The same tendency was observed for the mononuclear cells of the RA patients 48 h after the 4th infusion of infliximab (Paper IV / Figure 3). Accordingly, we conclude that the infliximab therapy did not inhibit the ability of these cells to respond to the bacterial inducer with TNF- α production.

3.3.3. Effect of infliximab on apoptosis of PBMCs

The effect of infliximab on the apoptosis was investigated after different time points following the *in vitro* infliximab pretreatment of PBMCs from the healthy blood donors. The results were compared with the apoptosis of PBMCs isolated from the patients participating in infliximab therapy 48 h after the 4th infusion. *In vitro* infliximab treatment ($100 \mu g/ml$) of the PBMCs for 48 h resulted in an increase in the percentage of apoptotic cells. The kinetic study revealed that the spontaneous apoptosis was slightly elevated following a 48-h incubation of the PBMCs, but it was not significant according to the ANOVA test. There was a significant increase in apoptosis, however, as a result of a 48-h *in vitro* treatment of the PBMCs with infliximab. In comparison with this *in vitro* infliximab treatment, in *ex vivo* samples investigated directly from the RA patients undergoing infliximab therapy, the degree of apoptosis was not considerable. Hence, we conclude that this infliximab therapy itself did not result in as high a rate of apoptosis as was observed on the *in vitro* treatment of PBMCs for 48 h (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Effect of in vitro infliximab treatment on the apoptosis of PBMCs. PBMCs were labelled with annexin V-FITC and PI. Surviving cells (low signals for both annexin V and PI) appear in the lower-left quadrant, early apoptotic cells (high annexin V signal, but low PI signal) in the lower-right quadrant, late apoptotic cells and necrotic cells (high signals for both annexin V and PI) in the upper-right quadrant, and necrotic cells in the upper-left quadrant (high PI signal).

3.4. TNF- α and TGF- β 1 gene polymorphism among patients with MDS belonging to the refractory anemia (RA) subtype

The distributions of genotypes and alleles for the different polymorphisms were consistent with those predicted by the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in the patients and in the controls.

3.4.1. The TNF- α -308 G \rightarrow A polymorphism

There were no significant differences in the TNF- α -308 promoter genotypic distribution between the patients with RA. Similarly, there were no differences in the distribution of TNF- α -308 G-to-A genotypes between the RA patients only with anemia (mild group) and those with bi- or pancytopenia (severe group) (Paper V / Table 1).

3.4.2. The TGF- $\beta 1$ T²⁹ \rightarrow C polymorphism

No significant difference in genotypic distribution was found between the refractory anemic patients overall and the healthy controls. A significant difference was observed, however, when the genotypes were taken into consideration within the two subgroups of RA. To elucidate the reason for this significance, we compared the number of TT homozygotes (high TGF- β -producing phenotype) and C carriers (CT and CC) among the patients with mild and severe cytopenia forms of RA and the healthy controls. A significant difference was observed when the TT homozygotes and C carrier genotypes were compared within the two subgroups of RA together with the healthy controls. There was also a considerable difference in frequency of the TT genotype between the two subgroups of RA. This was due to overpresentation of the TT genotype in the patients with bi- or pancytopenia (severe group). Alternatively, the C carrier status (representing the CT and CC genotypes) was markedly more frequent among the RA patients with only anemia (mild group) (Paper V / Table 2). Since we had only 4 patients with the hypoplastic form of MDS, it was not meaningful to perform any statistical analysis concerning the marrow cellularity. Nevertheless, the genotypic analysis revealed that 2 of these patients had the TT homozygote genotype. The results suggesting that the gene polymorphisms of TGF- β 1 may provide a rational indicator of the disease susceptibility or prognosis in MDS.

Table 1. Distribution of TGF	$\cdot\beta$ T ²⁹ -C (Leu \rightarrow Pro) genotype	es between the N	MDS patients	belonging to
	the RA subtype and the healt	hy controls.		

no gene variations have fr	TGF-ß	TNF-a Pro		
dilt the development of a l to all to alor all cobless suits success that the carr	TT n (%)	CT n (%)	CC n (%)	Р
Patients with RA (n=50)	24 (48.0)	19 (38.0)	7 (14.0)	0.031 ^a
mild (n=30)	9 (30.0)	16 (53.3)	5 (16.7)	0.007 ^b
severe (n=20)	15 (75.0)	3 (15.0)	2 (10.0)	0.003°
Controls (n=74)	33 (44.6)	28 (37.8)	13 (17.6)	ns for seven earg are ha

^a $\chi^2 = 10.58$, d.f. = 4; comparisons between the mild group (patients with anemia only), the severe group (patients with bi- or pancytopenia) and the controls.

 ${}^{b}\chi^{2}$ = 9.923, d.f. = 2; statistical analysis was performed between the TT and CT + CC genotypes; comparisons between the mild group, the severe group and the controls.

[°] Fischer's exact test: odds ratio = 6.99; statistical analysis was performed between the TT and CT + CC genotypes; comparison between the mild group and the severe group.

4. Discussion

4.1. TNF-α, HSP70-2, and CD14 gene polymorphisms in acute pancreatitis

CD14 We found no correlation among CD14 promoter polymorphism, disease severity and susceptibility to acute pancreatitis. The activation of CD14 by LPS or by other bacterial products could still be extremely important in cases of pancreatic necrosis associated with infection. Although we did not find significant differences in CD14 polymorphism associated with infected or aseptic pancreatic necrosis (data not shown), the low number of cases examined and reported to date warrants further investigations among cases of infected pancreatic necrosis to find a meaningful correlation if it exists.

HSP70-2 Developmental studies suggest that heat shock proteins play an important role in pancreatitis [132, 175, 176, 177, 178, 179]. Although previous studies clearly demonstrate the importance of HSP70-2 in an increased risk for hypoxia related diseases [180], data have not been reported in connection with acute pancreatitis. There was the first to demonstrate that the HSP70-2 G allele, which has been associated with a low HSP70-2 expression, is more prevalent in severe pancreatitis than in mild disease or in the healthy population. Conversely, patients with the "protective" AA genotype are less vulnerable to the disease and have a better prognosis by surviving pancreatitis with far fewer complications.

TNF- α Previous studies of pro-inflammatory cytokine gene variations have failed to reveal their disease predicting role and close relationship with the development of a severe attack of acute pancreatitis [181, 182, 183]; however, our results suggest that the carrying of the TNF2 allele may be a significant factor in process. There are many reasons for considering that TNF- α is involved in the pathogenesis of severe acute pancreatitis, as it mediates many symptoms such as fever, hypotension, shock, and multiple organ dysfunction, all which are present during a severe attack [184, 185]. High TNF- α producer genotypes proved to be more frequent among the patients with severe pancreatitis. The difference was significant only when the two groups of patients were compared; a significant difference was not observed between the patients and healthy donors. This draws attention to the fact carrying of the TNF2 allele itself is not a factor predisposing to acute pancreatitis, but once it has developed, the higher TNF- α producing genotype exacerbates inflammatory processes with more severe consequences of the disease.

Our results on TNF- α and HSP70-2 gene polymorphisms allow the speculation that the constellation of a high TNF- α producer and the low HSP70-2 producer genetic variant increases the risk of developing severe acute pancreatitis. We found that individuals demonstrating the simultaneous presence of these polymorphisms (with 2 "high-risk" genotypes) may be predisposed to the most severe complications of acute necrotizing pancreatitis (Figure 7). However, the relatively small size of the subgroup cohorts warrants further investigations.



Figure 7. The common presence of TNF2 allele and HSP70-2 G allele (YES) in patients with acute pancreatitis.

Besides the role of the of TNF- α of the initiation of the cytokine cascade, these results provide evidence of the importance of heat shock proteins in the pathomechanism of acute pancreatitis, thereby suggesting the clinical value of genotype assessment as an important prognostic tool to predict disease severity. Genotype assessments therefore provide important clinical evaluation criteria to guide treatment or to identify risk populations for severe acute pancreatitis.

TNF- α and PCT In our previous studies elevated levels of PCT were observed in patients with severe AP, which could be the consequence of TNF- α induction by bacterial stimuli (infected form of AP) [174]. As concerns the kinetics after endotoxin injection in experimental animals and humans, where TNF peaks 2-5 h before PCT, it is presumed that PCT is produced in response to a massive release of TNF [186, 187]. During the course of our in vitro experiments we presumed that TNF was the inducing agent of PCT after stimulation

of peripheral white blood cells with *S. aureus*. We applied *S. aureus* because it has been accepted as an excellent TNF inducer [188, 189]. Our results demonstrate that not only monocytes but also PMNs can be the source of PCT. It is very likely, that monocytes and granulocytes might be the main source of PCT in AP. It is tempting to speculate whether it would be any correlation between TNF- α polymorphism and PCT levels in severe form of AP. Further investigations would be necessary with a high number of patients.

4.2 TNF- α and Heat-shock protein 70-2 gene polymorphisms in a family with rheumatoid arthritis

There are much less genetic differences among members of a family than in a genetically independent population. Consequently, drawing a conclusion according to family studies are limited On the other hand to find a few genetic bias among relatives which parallel phenotypic differences or clinical parameters could raise the possible role of these genetic factors. The role of genetic factors in siblings and close relatives of RAr patients is of appreciable research relevance.

In most cases, RAr is non-familial, but its incidence is 1.8-12.1 times higher among first-degree relatives. Familial RAr has been reported but its extreme rarity to observe 5 female siblings all suffering from RAr. Four of the 5 RAr patients participating in full-dose triple combination therapy carried the TNF2 allele. There was one extremely good responder (Paper III/ Table 1 [no.5]) who was not a TNF2 carrier. Patient 4, who carried the TNF2 allele displayed the most severe clinical status. Moreover, she was the only rheumatoid factor-positive case. However, the family members are by definition not genetically independent, the accumulation of TNF2 in this family is striking.

Individuals being homozygotes for the HSP70-2 G allele consistently display a lower HSP70-2 mRNA expression than those for heterozygotes and HSP70-2 A homozygous individuals [98]. None of the RAr patients were homozygotes for the HSP70-2 G allele. However, it is tempting to speculate whether the 5 family members with HSP70-2 GG genotypes would have the same risk of development of disease in the future as those who carry the A allele together with the TNF2 allele and/or shared epitope. These members of the family need to be closely followed.

4.3. The prognostic value of TNF- α gene polymorphism among patients treated with anti-TNF- α therapy, and the effect of anti-TNF- α therapy on TNF- α production and apoptosis

The clinical efficacy of the biological response modifier infliximab proved to be impressive. One of the crucial questions that arises is how to select the optimal rate of TNF inhibition for each patient [190]. The degree of TNF inhibition required to control the disease in an optimal manner may vary from patient to patient. It may depend on the patient's weight or the drug metabolism, but also on each patient's innate TNF production. We should learn to titrate our therapy so as to achive a level of TNF inhibition that counters the disease, but without crippling important immune functions. Determination of the optimal degree of TNF inhibition that is safe and effective in each patient is crucial. We hypothesized that the therapeutic response of patients treated with infliximab might be related to the genetic propensity of the host to produce high levels of TNF- α . An increased number of the TNF A allele has been found among nonresponders. Knowledge of the TNF- α gene polymorphism in all patients treated with infliximab may result in a better understanding of how to optimize TNF inhibition in individual patients.

Another important feature of our study is the demonstration that the cytokineproducing ability of PBMCs is not irreversibly impaired by infliximab therapy, as revealed by *ex vivo* experiments in which washed WBCs were used. Stimulation of these white blood cells with killed SA led to TNF- α production, which could be detected in a bioassay when the anti-TNF antibodies were washed out in the supernatant of the cell cultures. The retained TNF- α producing ability was further proved in experiments in which intracellular TNF- α was detected in monocytes. Infections and cases of sepsis have been reported in patients receiving infliximab [162, 163]. Tuberculosis seems to be particularly common [161]. Our observation demonstrated that the host keeps its ability to produce an appropriate TNF- α and Th1 cytokine profile, which appears to be vital in keeping infections localized. It is important to stress that a rigorous follow-up of patients receiving infliximab is essential, however, in order for possible toxic effects and infections to be recognized in time, so that alternative medication can be applied [190].

Monocytopenia is commonly observed after treatment with infliximab. Treatment with infliximab at therapeutic concentrations resulted in apoptosis of monocytes in patients with

chronic active CD who were receiving a dose of ≥ 5 mg/kg [191]. We investigated the role of infliximab-induced of PBMCs in RA patients receiving 3 mg/kg infliximab. A 48-hour treatment of PBMCs *in vitro* resulted in a significant increase in the level of apoptosis. However, significant apoptosis was not observed in a direct analysis of the PBMCs of RA patients treated with infliximab. Monocytopenia/leukopenia was not observed in either our RA patients or our CD patients.

Treatment of TNF inhibitors may be accompanied by adverse events, and the precise mechanism of the infliximab therapy remains unclear. In our study, the potentially TNF- α -producing PBMCs retained their host defense function and their number was not decreased statistically by apoptosis. In view of the high costs of infliximab therapy, it appears necessary to determine the TNF genotype before such therapy is initiated, so as to achieve a better prognosis.

4.4. TNF- α and TGF- β 1 gene polymorphism among patients with MDS belonging to the refractory anemia subtype

The main features of MDS are an increased apoptosis of hematopietic progenitor cells, and aberrant hematopiesis. During the past few years, major progress has been made toward an understanding of the pathological processes of MDS. Genetic abnormalities or altered gene expressions leading to the suppression of hematopoiesis may also be responsible for the development of cytopenia. One of the genetic factors may be an aberration of cytokine regulation and cytokine production, which can lead to an increased apoptosis of hematopoietic progenitor cells, and aberrant hematopiesis. Both TNF-a and TGF-B1 inhibit myeloid, erythroid, megakaryocyte and multilineage colony formation and their excessive production has been also described [26, 136, 139, 140, 192, 193]. Accordingly, it appeared plausible to hypothesize that polymorphisms of the TNF- α or TGF- β 1 genes may be correlated with MDS or the severity of the disease. However, no significant difference in -308 TNF- α was observed as regards the G or A alleles when any of the forms of RA were compared with each other or with the controls. On the other hand, we have shown that in patients with RA the TGF-B "high-producer genotype" TT causes about a 7-fold risk of bi- or pancytopenia as compared with C-carriers. Patients carrying the C "protective" allele, with a concomitantly lower TGF-B1 production, have only anemia. As TGF-B1 is a member of the proapoptotic cytokines, it is very likely that patients with the low-producing genotypes (CC and CT) may have a better chance of a less severe cytopenia in MDS in this way the polymorphism of TGF- β 1 T²⁹ \rightarrow C gene may have relevant in the outcome of the disease.

5. Summary: conclusions and potential significance

- The risk of severe pancreatitis is increased in patients carrying the TNF2 allele at the -308 promoter site of TNF-α, and even more the G allele of HSP70-2.
- It has shown that TNF- α is the main inducing agent of PCT and that not only monocytes but also PMNs can be the source of PCT in acute pancreatitis.
- The AA genotype of the HSP70-2 gene is associated with a less severe form of acute pancreatitis.
- There is no correlation among CD14 promoter gene polymorphism, disease severity and susceptibility to acute pancreatitis.
- The cumulation of TNF2 allele in this multiplex RAr family draws the attention to the possible role of the -308 TNF- α gene polymorphism both in the susceptibility and the severity of RAr.
- There was a connection between the therapeutic response to infliximab and the -308 TNF-α gene polymorphism in RA and CD patients. There was a strong tendency for a much higher frequency of carriers of the TNF2 allele among nonresponders.
- The neutralizing effect of anti-TNF-α therapy does not result in irreversible inhibition of the TNF-α producing ability of mononuclear cells.
- A 48-hour *in vitro* treatment of PBMCs with infliximab resulted in a significant increase in the level of apoptosis, but no significant apoptosis was observed in a direct analysis of the PBMCs of RAr patients treated with infliximab
- There is no correlation among the polymorphism of the TNF- α -308 promoter region and degree of cytopenia in MDS patients with RA.
- The risk of bi-or pancytopenia is increased significantly higher in TT homozygous at T²⁹-C of TGF-B1 gene in MDS patients with RA.

6. Epilogue

Though, by the end of 2004 more than 99% of the human genome was sequenced, and the decoding of life was accomplished, it doesn't mean the end of the genetic research. Moreover, we can not say that we know the whole human genome. The basic premise that there is one SNP in every 1000 bases [194] leads to an estimate that any two individuals differ by up to three million SNPs. Most of these SNPs are certainly not involved in the coding sequence, but it doesn't mean that they wouldn't have any functional role.

The next important enterprise after the Human Genome Project (HUGO) is the HapMap project concerning the distribution of haplotypes in different ethnic groups. 600 thousands SNP-s of 270 different persons with different ethnic origins have been compared in the HapMap project. The knowledge of the human gene sequence within SNPs more and more precisely could open many new perspectives in the medicine. Nowadays it is possible to knock-out or trans-in either genes or gene fragments containing SNP in the different model organisms. The intensive development of the genetic research has led to the knowledge of more than 1600 monogenic diseases. Genetic susceptibility to complex traits is not caused by specific, relatively rare mutations, rather, the inheritance pattern of these common disorders results from genetic variations that are relatively common in the general population, with many genes each contributing a small quantity of the overall disease susceptibility. For instance, the role of at least 17 different genes has been showed in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. The next example demonstrates the difference between SNP-s and mutations: There are three different mutations known at present, which any of them causes surely Alzheimer-disease. However, these mutations are present only in the 5% of all patients (presenilin-1,-2, amiloid precursor protein). The APO-E ɛ4 allele has a smaller effect in causing Alzheimer-disease but it can be found in more than the 20% of the patients.

It can be clearly seen, that the presence or the knowledge of one SNP can't either explain the development of a disease or it can't be used as a 100% secure diagnostic method, rather a "SNPs network" could give us valuable information. Choosing the ideal candidate genes is a vital point. For example in sepsis both pro- and anti-inflammatory responses contribute to the outcome of the disease; thus all genes that encode proteins involved in the transduction of inflammatory processes are candidates. This group of genes is not restricted to those encoding cytokines, but also includes genes for numerous other effector molecules, such as components of the coagulation system, heat shock proteins, and signal transduction molecules. As more genetic information on different markers from different candidate genes becomes available, studies of combined gene effects and gene-gene interactions will become an essential tool for studying genetic predisposition. A combination of TNF high responders and IL-10 low responders to an inflammatory stimulus was found to have the highest death rate in a study of patients with acute renal failure [195, 196]. One of our observations also draws the attention to the fact that not only one SNP, but their combination could be more informative: the simultaneous presence of high TNF- α producer and the low HSP70-2 producer genetic variant may be predisposed to the most severe complications of acute necrotizing pancreatitis.

There is also a big expectation on the part of the pharamaceutical industry, and this is the question of pharmacogenetics. The previous gold standard in the medication used to be the principle: the same dosage for everybody. In spite of this medication habit there is more than 100 thousands deaths in a year because of the drugs adverse-side effects only in the USA. Another important problem is the relatively low effectiveness of many drugs: only 60% of the patients with asthma, 57% in DM, 52% in migraine, and 48% in osteoporosis can be called as good responders. The currently used drugs have about 500 targets, but the number of possible targets may be 5-10 thousands. It is also a big challenge to the pharmacogenetic researchers to find these possible targets. SNPs also may be the key to understanding the genetic factors that predict individual variability to drug response because response to medication in terms of both benefical response and adverse reaction is also a complex trait governed by a large number of genes. Armed with this knowledge, it is hoped that even medications that cause some people significant side-effects can be developed for a subset of patients who will derive therapeutic benefits from them [197]. This approach of targeting drugs to each unique genetic profile is the premise of the new field of pharmacogenomics [198, 199]. The final goal of the pharmacogenetic research should be "the right patients getting the right drugs at the right time".

Francis S. Collins is the director of the National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) at the National Institutes of Health (NIH). He led the successful effort to complete Human Genome Project, a complex multidisciplinary scientific enterprise directed at mapping

and sequencing all of the human DNA, and determining aspects of its function. He and his coworkers also in the HapMap project believe that the results of their and the related projects will change the whole diagnostic and therapeutic approach. SNP libraries will shorten the disease-gene discovery process and initiate the era of personalized medicine. Human geneticists will have at their disposal a super-dense genetic map to identify genes contributing moderate effects on complex traits. Drug companies will be able to determine genetic profiles that will tell them whether an individual patient will benefit or suffer adverse side-effects when given a particular drug. Physicians will be able to prescribe the most effective and safe medication for their patients. Every neonate will be tested for his or her disease expectancy. Eventually, individuals will be able to use their own genetic profiles to find out what diseases they are susceptible to. This might allow them to take preventive measures to maintain their health. Naturally, we have to find the right use of the patient's genetic information even more the whole population including healthy people. Many ethical questions come up at the same time. There is an essential role of the clinical medicine to determine the real importance of SNPs. The value of genomic risk markers as SNPs needs to be verified by prospective, full particular outcome studies. Moreover, the question of whether groups of patients identified as high risk by genomic markers may benefit from individual therapeutic strategies needs to be answered. If this is the case, genotype information may be used as inclusion criteria for future therapeutic trials.

It is also important that the technical backgrounds of these genetic analyses have to be very reliable, repeatable. They should take place on the basis of reference materials and quality control from that time they would become the part of the daily diagnosis. Maybe carrying a subcutaneous silicon chip, which identifies our genotypic profile, will become natural. The chip will be scanned and our allelic variants will determine the protocol of the therapy.

7. References

- 1. Dinarello CA, Moldawer LL. Cytokines and the inflammatory response. in Dinarello CA and Moldawer LL (ed). *Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. CA (USA), Amgen, Book.* 1999; 3-19.
- 2. Vilcek J. The cytokines: An Overview. in Thomson A (ed). *The cytokine handbook, San Diego (USA), Academic Press, Book.* 1998; 1-20.
- 3. Abbas AK, Lichtman AH. Cytokines. in Abbas AK and Lichtman AH (ed). Cellular and molecular immunology, Philadelphia (USA), Saunders, Book. 2003; 243-275.
- 4. Bazzoni F, Beutler B. The tumor necrosis factor ligand and receptor families. N Engl J Med. 1996; 334:1717-23.
- 5. Tracey KJ, Cerami A. Tumor necrosis factor: a pleiotropic cytokine and therapeutic target. Annu Rev Med. 1994; 45:491-503.
- 6. Dinarello CA, Moldawer LL. The tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) family and its receptors in Dinarello CA and Moldawer LL (ed). *Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. CA (USA), Amgen, Book.* 1999; 59-79.
- 7. Zhang M, Tracey KJ. Tumor necrosis factor. in Thompson A (ed). The cytokine Handbook. San Diego (USA); Academic press; Book. 1998; 517-48.
- 8. van der Poll T, Jansen PM, Van Zee KJ, Welborn MB, de Jong I et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis in baboons through an exclusive effect on the p55 receptor. *Blood.* 1996; 88:922-7.
- 9. Shi J, Schmitt-Talbot E, DiMattia DA, Dullea RG. The differential effects of IL-1 and TNF-alpha on proinflammatory cytokine and matrix metalloproteinase expression in human chondrosarcoma cells. *Inflamm Res.* 2004; 53(8):377-89.
- Jirik, FR, Podor TJ, Hirano T, Kishimoto T, Loskutoff DJ et al. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide and inflammatory mediators augment IL-6 secretion by human endothelial cells. *J Immunol.* 1989; 142: 144-7.
- 11. Margetts PJ, Kolb M, Yu L, Hoff CM, Holmes CJ et al. Inflammatory cytokines, angiogenesis, and fibrosis in the rat peritoneum. *Am J Pathol*. 2002; 160(6):2285-94.
- 12. Okuno T, Andoh A, Bamba S, Araki Y, Fujiyama Y et al. Interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factoralpha induce chemokine and matrix metalloproteinase gene expression in human colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. *Scand J Gastroenterol*. 2002; 37(3):317-24.
- Majewska E, Paleolog E, Baj Z, Kralisz U, Feldmann M, et al. Role of tyrosine kinase enzymes in TNF-alpha and IL-1 induced expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Scand J Immunol.* 1997; 45(4):385-92.
- 14. Niemann-Jonsson A, Ares MP, Yan ZQ, Bu DX, Fredrikson GN, et al. Increased rate of apoptosis in intimal arterial smooth muscle cells through endogenous activation of TNF receptors. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001; 21(12):1909-14.
- 15. Vanden Berghe T, Denecker G, Brouckaert G, Vadimovisch Krysko D, D'Herde K, et al. More than one way to die: methods to determine TNF-induced apoptosis and necrosis. *Methods Mol Med.* 2004; 98:101-26.

- 16. Zimmermann KC, Green DR. How cells die: apoptosis pathways. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2001; 108(4 Suppl):S99-103.
- 17. Prehn JL, Mehdizadeh S, Landers CJ, Luo X, Cha SC et al. Potential role for TL1A, the new TNFfamily member and potent costimulator of IFN-gamma, in mucosal inflammation. *Clin Immunol.* 2004; 112(1):66-77.
- Papadakis KA, Prehn JL, Landers C, Han Q, Luo X et al. TL1A synergizes with IL-12 and IL-18 to enhance IFN-gamma production in human T cells and NK cells. *J Immunol.* 2004; 172(11):7002-7.
- 19. Dinarello CA. Infection, fever, and exogenous and endogenous pyrogens: some concepts have changed. *J Endotoxin Res.* 2004; 10(4):201-22.
- 20. Rossi Fanelli F, Laviano A. Cancer anorexia: a model for the understanding and treatment of secondary anorexia. *Int J Cardiol.* 2002; 85(1):67-72.
- De Laurentiis A, Pisera D, Caruso C, Candolfi M, Mohn C et al. Lipopolysaccharide- and tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced changes in prolactin secretion and dopaminergic activity in the hypothalamic-pituitary axis. *Neuroimmunomodulation*. 2002; 10(1):30-9.
- 22. Zanotti S, Kumar A, Kumar A. Cytokine modulation in sepsis and septic shock. *Expert Opin Investig* Drugs. 2002; 11(8):1061-75.
- 23. Bhatia M, Moochhala S. Role of inflammatory mediators in the pathophysiology of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *J Pathol.* 2004; 202(2):145-56.
- Ferrero E, Zocchi MR, Magni E, Panzeri MC, Curnis F et al. Roles of tumor necrosis factor p55 and p75 receptors in TNF-alpha-induced vascular permeability. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 2001; 281(4):C1173-9.
- 25. Cohen J. The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature. 2002; 420:885-91.
- 26. Blobe GC, Schiemann WP, Lodish HF. Role of transforming growth factor β in human disease. *New* Engl J Med. 2000; 342:1350-8.
- 27. Derynck R, Choy L. Transforming growth factor-beta and its receptors in Thomson A (ed): The cytokine handbook. San Diego (USA); Academic press; Book. 1998; 593-636.
- 28. Abbas AK, Lichtman AH: Cytokines. in Abbas AK and Lichtman AH (ed): Cellular and molecular immunology, Philadelphia (USA), Saunders, Book 2003, 243-73.
- Yang X, Letterio JJ, Lechleider RJ, Chen L, Hayman R et al. Targeted disruption of SMAD3 results in impaired mucosal immunity and diminished T cell responsiveness to TGF-B. *EMBO J*. 1999; 18:1280-91.
- Letterio JJ, Roberts AB. Regulation of immune responses by TGF-B. Annu Rev Immunol. 1998; 16:137-61.
- Shull MM, Ormsby I, Kier AB, Pawlowski S, Diebold RJ et al. Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-β1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature*. 1992; 359:693-9.
- 32. Barral-N, Barral M, Brownell CE, Skeiky YA, Ellingsworth LR, Twardzik DR et al. Transforming growth factor-ß in leishmanial infection: a parasite escape mechanism. *Science*. 1992; 257:545-8.
- 33. Massague J. The transforming growth factor-ß family. Annu Rev Cell Biol. 1990; 6:597-641.

- 34. Hembry RM, Bagga MR, Murphy G, Henderson B, Reynolds JJ et al. The transforming growth factor-β modulates the expression of collagenase and metalloproteinase inhibitor. *EMBO J.* 1987; 6:1899.
- 35. Laiho M, Saksela O, Keski-Oja J. The transforming growth factor-β induction of type-1 plasminogen activator inhibitor. J Biol Chem. 1987; 262:17467-74.
- 36. Pepper MS. Transforming growth factor-ß:vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and vessel wall integrity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 1997; 8:21-43.
- 37. Goumans MJ, Valdimarsdottir G, Itoh S, Rosendahl A, Sideras P et al. Balancing the activation state of the endothelium via two distinct TGF-beta type I receptors. *EMBO J.* 2002; 21:1743-53.
- Rosfjord EC, Dickson RB. Growth factors, apoptosis, and survival of mammary epithelial cells. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 1999; 4:229-37.
- 39. Villanueva A, Garcia C, Paules AB, Vicente M, Megias M et al. Disruption of the antiploriferative TGF-β signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancer cells. *Oncogene*. 1998; 17:1969-78.
- 40. Marchand L, Haiman CA, Berg D, Wilkens LR, Kolonel LN et al. T29C Polymorphism in the transforming growth factor-β1 gene and postmenopausal breast cancer risk: the multiethnic cohort study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2004; 13:412-5.
- McCaffrey TA, Du B, Fu C, Bray PJ, Sanborn TA et al. The expression of TGF-β receptors in human atherosclerosis: evidence for aquired resistance to apoptosis due to receptor imbalance. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1999; 31:627-42.
- 42. Sharma K, Ziyadeh FN. The emerging role of transforming growth factor-β in kidney disease. Am J Physiol. 1994; 226:F829-F42.
- 43. Selman M, King TE, Pardo A. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: prevailing and evolving hypotheses about its pathogenesis and implications for therapy. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001; 134:136-51.
- 44. Bissell DM, Roulot D, George J. Transforming growth factor-β and the liver. *Hepatology*. 2001; 34:859-867.
- 45. Wakefield LM, Yang YA, Dukhanina O. Transforming growth factor-β and breast cancer: lessons learned from genetically altered mouse models. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2000; 2:100-6.
- 46. Guttmacher AE, Marchuk DA, White RI Jr. Hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia. N Engl J Med. 1995; 333:918-24.
- 47. Brennan FM, Feldmann M: Cytokine networks. in Balkwill F (ed). The cytokine networks. Oxford (UK), Oxford University Press, Book. 2000; 49-70.
- 48. Duff G: Genetic variation in cytokines and relevance to inflammation and disease. in Balkwill F (ed). The cytokine networks. Oxford (UK), Oxford University Press, Book. 1999;152-173.
- 49. Stüber F: Cytokine gene polymorphism and host susceptibility to infection. in Kotb M and Calandra T (ed). Cytokines and chemokines in infectious diseases handbook. New Yersey (USA), Humana press, Book. 2003; 23-32.
- 50. Herrmann S, Paul M. The genetics of coronary heart disease. Eur J Intern Med. 2001; 12:2-10.
- 51. Sőti Cs, Nardai G, Csermely P. Stress proteins in medicine. Orvosi Hetilap. 2003; 13:605-11.

- 52. Lindquist S, Craig EA. The heat-shock proteins. Ann Rev Genet. 1988; 22:631-77.
- 53. Asea A, Kraeft SK, Kurt-Jones EA, Stevenson MA, Chen LB et al. HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. *Nat Med.* 2000; 4:435-42.
- 54. Polla BS, Cossarizza A. Stress proteins in inflammation. EXS. 1996; 77:375-91.
- 55. Parsell DA, Lindquist S. The function of heat-shock proteins in stress tolerance: degradation and reactivation of damaged proteins. *Annu Rev Genet.* 1993; 27:437-96.
- 56. Hendrick JP, Hartl FU. The role of molecular chaperones in protein folding. *FASEB J.* 1995; 9:1559-69. Review.
- 57. Jacquier-Sarlin MR, Fuller K, Dinh-Xuan AT, Richard MJ, Polla BS. Protective effects of hsp70 in inflammation. *Experientia*. 1994; 50:1031-8.
- Snyder YM, Guthrie L, Evans GF, Zuckerman SH. Transcriptional inhibition of endotoxin-induced monokine synthesis following heat shock in murine peritoneal macrophages. J Leukoc Biol. 1992; 51:181-7.
- 59. Young RA. Stress proteins and immunology. Annu Rev Immunol. 1990;8:401-20.
- 60. Milner CM, Campbell RD. Polymorphic analysis of the three MHC-linked HSP70 genes. Immunogenetics. 1992; 36:357-62.
- 61. Currie RW, Karmazyn M, Kloc M, Mailer K. Heat-shock response is associated with enhanced postischemic ventricular recovery. *Circ Res.* 1988; 63:543-9.
- Hoehn B, Ringer TM, Xu L, Giffard RG, Sapolsky RM et al. Overexpression of HSP72 after induction of experimental stroke protects neurons from ischemic damage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2001; 21:1303-9.
- 63. Molitoris BA. New insights into the cell biology of ischemic acute renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1991; 1:1263-70.
- 64. Pockley AG. Heat shock proteins in health and disease: therapeutic targets or therapeutic agents? *Expert Rev Mol Med.* 2001; 21:1-21.
- 65. Mueller T, Regele H, Posch M, Marszalek M, Schwarz C et al. HSP-72 expression in pre-transplant donor kidney biopsies and post-transplant outcome. *Transplantation*. 2004; 78:292-5.
- 66. Kurucz I, Morva A, Vaag A, Eriksson KF, Huang X et al. Decreased expression of heat shock protein 72 in skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes correlates with insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. 2002; 51:1102-9.
- 67. Kouchi Z, Sorimachi H, Suzuki K, Ishiura S. Proteasome inhibitors induce the association of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein with Hsc73. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999; 254:804-10.
- 68. Jellinger KA. Cell death mechanisms in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm. 2000; 107:1-29.
- 69. Srivastava PK, Menoret A, Basu S, Binder RJ, McQuade KL. Heat shock proteins come of age: primitive functions acquire new roles in an adaptive world. *Immunity*. 1998; 8:657-65.
- 70. Sőti Cs, Csermely P. Chaperones come of age. Cell stress chaperones. 2002; 7:186-190.

- Elias D, Reshef T, Birk OS, van der Zee R, Walker MD et al. Vaccination against autoimmune mouse diabetes with a T-cell epitope of the human 65-kDa heat shock protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1991; 88:3088-91.
- 72. Ripley BJ, Isenberg DA, Latchman DS. Elevated levels of the 90 kDa heat shock protein (hsp90) in SLE correlate with levels of IL-6 and autoantibodies to hsp90. *J Autoimmun.* 2001; 17:341-6.
- 73. Ziegler-Heitbrock HW, Ulevitch RJ. CD14: cell surface receptor and differentiation marker. *Immunol Today.* 1993; 14:121-5.
- 74. Ito D, Murata M, Tanahashi N, Sato H, Sonoda A et al. Polymorphism in the promoter of lipopolysaccharide receptor CD14 and ischemic cerebrovascular disease. *Stroke*. 2000; 31:2661-4.
- 75. Frey EA, Miller DS, Jahr TG, Sundan A, Bazil V et al. Soluble CD14 participates in the response of cells to lipopolysaccharide. *J Exp Med.* 1992; 176:1665-71.
- Loppnow H, Stelter F, Schonbeck U, Schluter C, Ernst M et al. Endotoxin activates human vascular smooth muscle cells despite lack of expression of CD14 mRNA or endogenous membrane CD14. *Infect Immun.* 1995; 63:1020-6.
- 77. Obana N, Takahashi S, Kinouchi Y, Negoro K, Takagi S et al. Ulcerative colitis is associated with a promoter polymorphism of lipopolysaccharide receptor gene, CD14. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* 2002; 37:699-704.
- 78. Netea MG, van der Graaf C, Van der Meer JW, Kullberg BJ. Toll-like receptors and the host defense against microbial pathogens: bringing specificity to the innate-immune system. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2004; 75:749-55.
- 79. Pugin J, Heumann ID, Tomasz A, Kravchenko VV, Akamatsu Y et al. CD14 is a pattern recognition receptor. *Immunity*. 1994; 1:509-16.
- Devitt A, Moffatt OD, Raykundalia C, Capra JD, Simmons DL et al. Human CD14 mediated recognition and phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *Nature*. 1998; 392:505-9.
- 81. Gregory CD. CD14-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells: relevance to the immune system. Curr Opin Immunol. 2000; 12(1):27-34.
- Heidenreich S, Schmidt M, August C, Cullen P, Rademaekers A et al. Regulation of human monocyte apoptosis by the CD14 molecule. *J Immunol.* 1997; 159(7):3178-88.
- Santucci MB, Amicosante M, Cicconi R, Montesano C, Casarini M et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosisinduced apoptosis in monocytes/macrophages: early membrane modifications and intracellular mycobacterial viability. J Infect Dis. 2000; 181:1506-9.
- Karhukorpi J, Yan Y, Niemela S, Valtonen J, Koistinen P et al. Effect of CD14 promoter polymorphism and H. pylori infection and its clinical outcomes on circulating CD14. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2002; 128(2):326-32.
- 85. Bas S, Gauthier BR, Spenato U, Stingelin S, Gabay C. CD14 is an acute-phase protein. J Immunol. 2004; 172:4470-9.
- Cambien F, Poirier O, Lecerf L, Evans A, Cambou JP et al. Deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme is a potent risk factor for myocardial infarction. *Nature*. 1992; 359:641-4.

- Herrmann SM, Ricard S, Nicaud V, Mallet C, Evans A et al. The P-selectin gene is highly polymorphic: reduced frequency of the Pro715 allele carriers in patients with myocardial infarction. *Hum Mol Genet*. 1998; 7(8):1277-84.
- 88. Campbell AM, Heyer LJ. Variability of the human genome. in Campbell AM, Heyer LJ (ed). Discovering genomics, proteomics and bioinformatics. San Francisco (USA), Benjamin Cummings, Book. 2003, 92-122.
- Waldron-Lynch F, Adams C, Amos C, Zhu DK, McDermott MF et al. Tumour necrosis factor 5' promoter single nucleotide polymorphisms influence susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in immunogenetically defined multiplex RA families. *Genes Immun.* 2001; 2(2):82-7.
- Nedwin GE, Naylor SL, Sakaguchi AY, Smith D, Jarrett-Nedwin J et al. Human lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor genes: structure, homology and chromosomal localization. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1985; 13:6361-73.
- 91. Wilson AG, de Vries N, Pociot F, di Giovine FS, van der Putte LB et al. An allelic polymorphism within the human tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter region is strongly associated with HLA A1, B8, and DR3 alleles. *J Exp Med.* 1993; 177:557-60.
- 92. Wilson AG, Symons JA, McDowell TL, McDevitt HO, Duff GW. Effects of a polymorphism in the human tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter on transcriptional activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997; 94:3195-9.
- 93. Kroeger KM, Carville KS, Abraham LJ. The -308 tumor necrosis factor-alpha promoter polymorphism effects transcription. *Mol Immunol.* 1997; 34:391-9.
- 94. Louis E, Franchimont D, Piron A, Gevaert Y, Schaaf-Lafontaine N et al. Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) gene polymorphism influences TNF-alpha production in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated whole blood cell culture in healthy humans. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 1998; 113:401-6.
- Mira JP, Cariou A, Grall F, Delclaux C, Losser MR et al. Association of TNF2, a TNF-alpha promoter polymorphism, with septic shock susceptibility and mortality: a multicenter study. JAMA. 1999; 282:561-8.
- 96. Tang GJ, Huang SL, Yien HW, Chen WS, Chi CW et al. Tumor necrosis factor gene polymorphism and septic shock in surgical infection. *Crit Care Med.* 2000; 28:2733-6.
- McManus R, Wilson AG, Mansfield J, Weir DG, Duff GW et al. TNF2, a polymorphism of the tumour necrosis-alpha gene promoter, is a component of the celiac disease major histocompatibility complex haplotype. *Eur J Immunol.* 1996; 26:2113-8.
- Pociot F, Ronningen KS, Nerup J. Polymorphic analysis of the human MHC-linked heat shock protein 70 (HSP70-2) and HSP70-Hom genes in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM). Scand J Immunol. 1993; 38:491-5.
- 99. Bolla MK, Miller GJ, Yellon DM, Evans A, Luc G et al. Analysis of the association of a heat shock protein 70-1 gene promoter polymorphism with myocardial infarction and coronary risk traits. *Dis Markers.* 1998; 13:227-35.
- 100. Esaki M, Furuse M, Matsumoto T, Aoyagi K, Jo Y. et al. Polymorphism of heat-chock protein gene HSP70-2 in Crohn disease: possible genetic marker for two forms of Crohn disease. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1999; 34:703-7.

- 101.Favatier F, Bornman L, Hightower LE, Gunther E, Polla BS. Variation in HSP gene expression and HSP polymorphism: do they contricute to differential disease susceptibility and stress tolerance? *Cell Stree Chaperones.* 1997; 2:141-55.
- 102. Fekete A, Treszl A, Toth-Heyn P, Vannay A, Tordai A et al. Association between heat shock protein 72 gene polymorphism and acute renal failure in premature neonates. *Pediatr Res.* 2003; 54:452-55.
- 103.Baldini M, Lohman IC, Halonen M, Erickson RP, Holt PG et al. Polymorphism* in the 5' flanking region of the CD14 gene is associated with circulating soluble CD14 levels and with total serum immunoglobulin E. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* 1999; 20:976-83.
- 104. Hubacek JA, Rothe G, Pit'ha J, Skodova Z, Stanek V et al. C(-260)-->T polymorphism in the promoter of the CD14 monocyte receptor gene as a risk factor for myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. 1999; 99:3218-20.
- 105.Klein W, Tromm A, Griga T, Fricke H, Folwaczny C et al. A polymorphism in the CD14 gene is associated with Crohn disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* 2002; 37:189-91.
- 106. Unkelbach K, Gardemann A, Kostrzewa M, Philipp M, Tillmanns H et al. A new promoter polymorphism in the gene of lipopolysaccharide receptor CD14 is associated with expired myocardial infarction in patients with low atherosclerotic risk profile. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1999; 19:932-8.
- 107.Blobe GC, Schiemann WP, Lodish HF. Role of transforming growth factor beta in human disease. N Engl J Med. 2000; 342:1350-8.
- 108. Fujii D, Brissenden JE, Derynck R, Francke U. Transforming growth factor beta gene maps to human chromosome 19 long arm and to mouse chromosome 7. Somat Cell Mol Genet. 1986; 12:281-8.
- 109.Kim SJ, Jeang KT, Glick AB, Sporn MB, Roberts AB. Promoter sequences of the human transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene responsive to transforming growth factor-beta 1 autoinduction. *J Biol Chem.* 1989; 264:7041-5.
- 110. Wood NA, Thomson SC, Smith RM, Bidwell JL: Identification of human TGF-beta1 signal (leader) sequence polymorphisms by PCR-RFLP. *J Immunol Methods*. 2000; 234:117-22.
- 111. Awad MR, El-Gamel A, Hasleton P, Turner DM, Sinnott PJ et al. Genotypic variation in the transforming growth factor-beta1 gene: association with transforming growth factor-beta1 production, fibrotic lung disease, and graft fibrosis after lung transplantation. *Transplantation*. 1998; 66:1014-20.
- 112. Arkwright PD, Laurie S, Super M, Pravica V, Schwarz MJ et al. TGF-beta(1) genotype and accelerated decline in lung function of patients with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax.* 2000; 55:459-62.
- 113. Hinke V, Seck T, Clanget C, Scheidt-Nave C, Ziegler R et al. Association of transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGFbeta1) T29 --> C gene polymorphism with bone mineral density (BMD), changes in BMD, and serum concentrations of TGF-beta1 in a population-based sample of postmenopausal german women. *Calcified Tissue Intern.* 2001; 69:315-20.
- 114.Clancy RM, Backer CB, Yin X, Kapur RP, Molad Y et al. Cytokine polymorphisms and histologic expression in autopsy studies: contribution of TNF-alpha and TGF-beta 1 to the pathogenesis of autoimmune-associated congenital heart block. *J Immunol.* 2003; 171:3253-61.
- 115. Holweg CT, Baan CC, Niesters HG, Vantrimpont PJ, Mulder PG et al. TGF-beta1 gene polymorphisms in patients with end-stage heart failure. *J Heart Lung Transplant*. 2001; 20:979-84.

- 116. Warle MC, Farhan A, Metselaar HJ, Hop WC, Perrey C et al. Cytokine gene polymorphisms and acute human liver graft rejection. *Liver Transpl.* 2002; 8:603-11.
- 117. Xaubet A, Marin-Arguedas A, Lario S, Ancochea J, Morell F et al. Transforming growth factor-beta1 gene polymorphisms are associated with disease progression in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2003; 168:431-5.
- 118. Li B, Khanna A, Sharma V, Singh T, Suthanthiran M et al. TGF-beta 1 DNA polymorphisms, protein levels, and blood pressure. *Hypertension*. 1999; 33:271-5.
- 119. Cambien F, Ricard S, Troesch A, Mallet C, Generenaz L et al. Polymorphisms of the transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene in relation to myocardial infarction and blood pressure. *Hypertension*. 1998; 28:881-7.
- 120. Samani NJ. Molecular genetics of coronary artery disease: measuring the phenotype. *Clin Sci.* 1998; 95:645-6.
- 121.Syrris P, Carter ND, Metcalfe JC, Kemp PR, Grainger DJ et al. Transforming growth factor-B1 gene polymorphisms and coronary artery disease. *Clin Sci.* 1998; 95:659-7.
- 122. Wang XL, Sim AS, Wilcken DE: A common polymorphism of the transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene and coronary artery disease. *Clin Sci.* 1998; 95:745-6.
- 123. Wu L, Chau J, Young RP, Pokorny V, Mills GD et al. Transforming growth factor-ß1 genotype and susceptibility to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax.* 2004; 59:126-9.
- 124. Smithies AM, Sargen K, Demaine AG, Kingsnorth AN. Investigation of the interleukin 1 gene cluster and its association with acute pancreatitis. *Pancreas*. 2000; 20:234-40.
- 125.Leindler L, Morschl E, Laszlo F, Mandi Y, Takacs T et al. Importance of cytokines, nitric oxide, and apoptosis in the pathological process of necrotizing pancreatitis in rats. *Pancreas*. 2004; 29:157-61.
- 126.Kusske AM, Rongione AJ, Reber HA. Cytokines and acute pancreatitis. *Gastroenterology*. 1996; 110:639-42.
- 127. Mandi Y, Farkas G, Takacs T, Boda K, Lonovics J. Diagnostic relevance of procalcitonin, IL-6, and sICAM-1 in the prediction of infected necrosis in acute pancreatitis. *Int J Pancreatol.* 2000; 28:41-9.
- 128.Xia Q, Jiang JM, Gong X, Chen GY, Li L et al. Experimental study of Tong Xia purgative method in ameliorating lung injury in acute necrotizing pancreatitis. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2000; 6:115-8.
- 129. Grewal HP, Kotb M, el Din AM, Ohman M, Salem A et al. Induction of tumor necrosis factor in severe acute pancreatitis and its subsequent reduction after hepatic passage. *Surgery*. 1994; 115:213-21.
- 130. Dinarello CA. Proinflammatory cytokines. Chest. 2000; 118:503-8.
- 131.Exley AR, Leese T, Holliday MP, Swann RA, Cohen J. Endotoxaemia and serum tumour necrosis factor as prognostic markers in severe acute pancreatitis. *Gut.* 1992; 33:1126-8.
- 132. Rakonczay Z Jr, Takacs T, Boros I, Lonovics J. Heat shock proteins and the pancreas. J Cell Physiol. 2003; 195:383-91.
- 133.Bennett JM, Catovsky D, Daniel MT, Flandrin G, Galton DA et al. Proposals for the classification of the myelodysplastic syndromes. *Br J Haematol.* 1982; 51:189-99.

- 134. Greenberg PL, Young NS, Gattermann N. Myelodysplastic syndromes. Hematology (Am Soc Hematol Educ Program). 2002:136-61.
- 135. Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Willman C, Barrett AJ, Saunthararajah Y. Achievements in Understanding and Treatment of Myelodysplastic Syndromes. Hematology (Am Soc Hematol Educ Program). 2000:110-32.
- 136.Moldoveanu E, Moicean A, Vidulescu C, Marta D, Colita A. Apoptotic rate in patients with myelodisplastic syndrome treated with modulatory compounds of pro-apoptotic cytokines. J Cell Mol Med. 2003; 7:313-21.
- 137.Kitagawa M, Saito I, Kuwata T, Yoshida S, Yamaguchi S et al. Overexpression of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha and interferon (IFN)-gamma by bone marrow cells from patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. *Leukemia*. 1997; 11:2049-54.
- 138. Deeg HJ, Beckham C, Loken MR, Bryant E, Lesnikova M et al. Negative regulators of hemopoiesis and stroma function in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2000; 37(3-4):405-14.
- 139. Bruno E, Horrigan SK, Van Den Berg D, Rozler E, Fitting PR et al. The Smad5 gene is involved in the intracellular signaling pathways that mediate the inhibitory effects of transforming growth factor-beta on human hematopoiesis. *Blood.* 1998; 91:1917-23.
- 140. Allampallam K, Shetty V, Mundle S, Dutt D, Kravitz H et al. Biological significance of proliferation, apoptosis, cytokines, and monocyte/macrophage cells in bone marrow biopsies of 145 patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. *Int J Hematol.* 2002; 75:289-97.
- 141.Kurotaki H, Tsushima Y, Nagai K, Yagihashi S. Apoptosis, bcl-2 expression and p53 accumulation in myelodysplastic syndrome, myelodysplastic-syndrome-derived acute myelogenous leukemia and de novo acute myelogenous leukemia. Acta Haematol. 2000; 102(3):115-23.
- 142. Maciejewski JP, Risitano AM, Sloand EM, Wisch L, Geller N et al. A pilot study of the recombinant soluble human tumour necrosis factor receptor (p75)-Fc fusion protein in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. *Br J Haematol.* 2002; 117:119-26.
- 143. Greenberg P. Treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome with agents interfering with inhibitory cytokines. Ann Rheum Dis. 2001; 60 Suppl 3:iii41-42.
- 144. Hofmann WK, Seipelt G, Ottmann OG, Kalina U, Koschmieder S et al. Effect of treatment with amifostine used as a single agent in patients with refractory anemia on clinical outcome and serum tumor necrosis factor alpha levels. *Ann Hematol.* 2000; 79:255-58.
- 145. Demeter J, Messer G, Schrezenmeier H. Clinical relevance of the TNF-alpha promoter/enhancer polymorphism in patients with aplastic anemia. *Ann Hematol.* 2002; 81:566-9.
- 146. Cush JJ, Lipsky PE. Phenotypic analysis of synovial tissue and peripheral blood lymphocytes isolated from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1988; 31(10):1230-8.
- 147. Feldmann M, Maini RN. The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 1999; 38 Suppl 2:3-7.
- 148. Williams RO, Feldmann M, Maini RN. Cartilage destruction and bone erosion in arthritis: the role of tumour necrosis factor alpha. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000; 59 Suppl 1:i75-80.
- 149. Burmester GR, Stuhlmuller B, Keyszer G, Kinne RW. Mononuclear phagocytes and rheumatoid synovitis. Mastermind or workhorse in arthritis? *Arthritis Rheum.* 1997; 40:5-18.

- 150.Keffer J, Probert L, Cazlaris H, Georgopoulos S, Kaslaris E et al. Transgenic mice expressing human tumour necrosis factor: a predictive genetic model of arthritis. *EMBO J.* 1991; 10:4025-31.
- 151. Auger I, Escola JM, Gorvel JP, Roudier J. HLA-DR4 and HLA-DR10 motifs that carry susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis bind 70-kD heat shock proteins. *Nat Med.* 1996; 2:306-10.
- 152. Winchester R. The molecular basis of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. Adv Immunol. 1994; 56:389-466.
- 153. Gregersen PK, Silver J, Winchester RJ. The shared epitope hypothesis. An approach to understanding the molecular genetics of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1987; 30:1205-13.
- 154. Feldmann M, Brennan FM, Maini RN. Role of cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 1996; 14:397-440.
- 155. Hampe J, Shaw SH, Saiz R, Leysens N, Lantermann A et al. Linkage of inflammatory bowel disease to human chromosome 6p. Am J Hum Genet. 1999; 65:1647-55.
- 156. Dinarello CA, Moldawer LL: Overview of anticytokine-based therapies. in Dinarello CA and Moldawer LL (ed). Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis, CA (USA), Amgen, Book. 1999; 91-110.
- 157. D'Haens G, Van Deventer S, Van Hogezand R, Chalmers D, Kothe C et al. Endoscopic and histological healing with infliximab anti-tumor necrosis factor antibodies in Crohn's disease: A European multicenter trial. *Gastroenterology* 1999; 116:1029-34.
- 158. Lipsky PE, van der Heijde DM, St Clair EW, Furst DE, Breedveld FC et al. Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Trial in Rheumatoid Arthritis with Concomitant Therapy Study Group. Infliximab and methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Trial in Rheumatoid Arthritis with Concomitant Therapy Study Group. N Engl J Med. 2000; 343:1594-602.
- 159. Keystone EC. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheum Dis* Clin North Am. 2001; 27:427-43.
- 160. Papadakis KA, Targan SR. Tumor necrosis factor: biology and therapeutic inhibitors. Gastroenterology 2000; 119:1148-57.
- 161.Gardam MA, Keystone EC, Menzies R, Manners S, Skamene E et al. Anti-tumour necrosis factor agents and tuberculosis risk: mechanisms of action and clinical management. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2003; 3:148-55.
- 162. Andus T, Stange EF, Hoffler D, Keller-Stanislawski B. Suspected cases of severe side effects after infliximab (Remicade) in Germany. *Med Klin (Munich).* 2003; 98:429-36.
- 163.Colombel JF, Loftus EV Jr, Tremaine WJ, Egan LJ, Harmsen WS et al. The safety profile of infliximab in patients with Crohn's disease: the Mayo clinic experience in 500 patients. *Gastroenterology*. 2004; 126:19-31.
- 164. Ranson JHC. Etiological and prognostic factors in human acute pancreatitis: a review. Am J Gastroenterol. 1982; 77:633-8.
- 165. Arnett FC, Edworthy SM, Bloch DA, McShane DJ, Fries JF et al. The American Rheumatism Association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1988; 31:315-24.

166. Podolsky DK. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med. 1991; 325:928-37.

- 167. Rosenfeld C, List A. A hypothesis for the pathogenesis of myelodysplastic syndromes: implications for new therapies. *Leukemia* 2000; 14:2-8.
- 168. Wilson AG, di Giovine FS, Blakemore AI, Duff GW. Single base polymorphism in the human tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF alpha) gene detectable by NcoI restriction of PCR product. *Hum Mol Genet*. 1992; 1:353.
- 169. Perrey C, Turner SJ, Pravica V, Howell WM, Hutchinson IV. ARMS-PCR methodologies to determine IL-10, TNF-α, TNF-β and TGF-β1 gene polymorphisms. *Transplant Immunology*. 1999; 7:127-8.
- 170. Schroeder S, Reck M, Hoeft A, Stuber F. Analysis of two human leukocyte antigen-linked polymorphic heat shock protein 70 genes in patients with severe sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* 1999; 27:1265-70.
- 171. Heesen M, Kunz D, Rossaint R, Blomeke B. Real-time PCR assay with fluorescent hybridization probes for rapid genotyping of the CD14 promoter polymorphism. *Clin Chem.* 2000; 46:1866-7.
- 172. Espevik T, Nissen-Meyer J. A highly sensitive cell line, WEHI 164 clone 13, for measuring cytotoxic factor/tumor necrosis factor from human monocytes. *Scand J Immunol.* 1986; 24:739-43.
- 173. Megyeri K, Mándi Y, Degré M, Rosztóczy I. Induction of cytokine production by different Staphylococcal strains. *Cytokine*. 2002; 19:206-12.
- 174. Mandi Y, Farkas G, Takacs T, Boda K, Lonovics J. Diagnostic relevance of procalcitonin, IL-6, and sICAM-1 in the prediction of infected necrosis in acute pancreatitis. *Int J Pancreatol.* 2000; 28(1):41-9.
- 175.Bhagat L, Singh VP, Song AM, van Acker GJ, Agrawal S et al. Thermal stress-induced HSP70 mediates protection against intrapancreatic trypsinogen activation and acute pancreatitis in rats. *Gastroenterology*. 2002; 122:156-65.
- 176. Schäfer C, Williams JA. Stress kinases and heat shock proteins in the pancreas: possible roles in normal function and disease. *J Gastroenterol.* 2000; 35:1-9.
- 177. Tashiro M, Ernst SA, Edwards J, Williams JA. Hyperthermia induces multiple pancreatic heat shock proteins and protects against subsequent arginine-induced acute pancreatitis in rats. *Digestion*. 2002; 65:118-26.
- 178. Grise K, Kim F, McFadden D. Hyperthermia induces heat-shock protein expression, reduces pancreatic injury, and improves survival in necrotizing pancreatitis. *Pancreas* 2000; 21:120-125.
- 179. Rakonczay Z Jr, Takacs T, Mandi Y, Ivanyi B, Varga S et al. Water immersion pretreatment decreases pro-inflammatory cytokine production in cholecystokinin-octapeptide-induced acute pancreatitis in rats. Possible role of HSP72. *Int J Hyperthermia*. 2001; 17:520-35.
- 180.Zee RY, Bates D, Ridker PM. A prospective evaluation of the heat shock protein 70 gene polymorphism and the risk of stroke. *Thromb Haemost.* 2002; 87:622-25.
- 181.Zhang DL, Li JS, Jiang ZW, Yu BJ, Tang XM. Association of two polymophisms of tumor necrosis factor gene with acute severe pancreatitis. *J Surg Res.* 2003; 112:138-43.
- 182. Sargen K, Demaine AG, Kingsnorth AN. Cytokine gene polymorphisms in acute pancreatitis. J Pancreas. 2000; 1:24-35.
- 183.Powell JJ, Fearon KCH, Siriwardena AK, Ross JA. Evidence against a role for polymorphisms at tumour necrosis factor, interleukin-1 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene loci in the regulation of disease severity in acute pancreatitis. Surgery. 2001; 129:633-40.

- 184.Gross V, Leser HG, Heinish A, Schölmerich J. Inflammatory mediators and cytokines. New aspects of the pathophysiology and assessment of severity of acute pancreatitis. *Hepato-Gastroenterol.* 1993; 40:522-30.
- 185. Formela LJ, Galloway SW, Kingsnorth AN. Inflammatory mediators in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg. 1995; 82:6-13.
- 186. Whang KT, Vath SD, Becker KL, Snider RH, Nylen ES et al. Procalcitonin and proinflammatory cytokine in interactions in sepsis. *Shock.* 1999; 12(4):268-73.
- 187. Muller B, White JC, Nylen ES, Snider RH, Becker KL et al. Ubiquitous expression of the calcitonin-i gene in multiple tissues in response to sepsis. Ubiquitous expression of the calcitonin-i gene in multiple tissues in response to sepsis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2001; 86(1):396-404.
- 188. Timmerman CP, Mattsson E, Martinez-Martinez L, De Graaf L, Van Strijp JA et al. Induction of release of tumor necrosis factor from human monocytes by staphylococci and staphylococcal peptidoglycans. *Infect Immun.* 1993; 61(10):4167-72.
- 189. Mandi Y, Nagy Z, Ocsovski I, Farkas G. Effects of tumor necrosis factor and pentoxifylline on ICAM-1 expression on human polymorphonuclear granulocytes. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 1997; 114(4):329-35.
- 190. O'Dell JR. TNF-alpha inhibition: the need for a tumor necrosis factor thermostat. Mayo Clin Proc. 2001; 76(6):573-5.
- 191.Lugering A, Schmidt M, Lugering N, Pauels HG, Domschke W et al. Infliximab induces apoptosis in monocytes from patients with chronic active Crohn's disease by using a caspase-dependent pathway. *Gastroenterology*. 2001; 121(5):1145-57.
- 192.Kiss C, Benko I, Kovacs P. Leukemic cells and the cytokine patchwork. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. 2004; 42:113-21.
- 193.Gersuk GM, Beckham C, Loken MR, Kiener P, Anderson JE et al. A role for tumour necrosis factoralpha, Fas and Fas-Ligand in marrow failure associated with myelodysplastic syndrome. *Br J Haematol.* 1998; 103:176-88.
- 194. Campbell DA, Valdes AM, Spurr N. Making drug discovery a SN(i)P. DDT 2000; 5:388-96.
- 195. Stüber F. Another definite candidate gene for genetic predisposition of sepsis. Interleukin-10. Crit Care Med. 2003; 31:314-15.
- 196. Jaber BL, Rao M, Guo D, Balakrishnan VS, Perianayagam MC et al. Cytokine gene promoter polymorphisms and mortality in acute renal failure. *Cytokine*. 2004; 25:212-19.
- 197. Marshall E. Drug firms to create public database of genetic mutations. Science. 1999; 284:406-7.
- 198.Palmer LJ, Silverman ES, Weiss ST, Drazen JM. Pharmacogenetics of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002; 165(7):861-6.
- 199. Wade N. Tailoring drugs to fit the genes. The New York Times. 1999 April 15.

Acknowledgements

I would express my special thank to Professor Yvette Mandi for her generous efforts to introduce me into the theory and practice of the cytokine network and general immunobiology and for guiding my scientific work.

I thank all the members of the Department of Microbiology and Immunobiology Faculty of Medicine University of Szeged, particularly dr. Zsofia Gyulai and dr. Gergely Klausz for their help and support during my studies.

I am grateful to the excellent technical assistance of Mrs. Gyorgyi Muller.

I thank all my clinical partners particularly, Professor Tamas Takacs at 1st Department of Internal Medicine University of Szeged, Professor Gyula Farkas at Department of Surgery University of Szeged, Professor Zita Borbenyi at 2nd Department of Internal Medicine and Cardiological Center University of Szeged dr. Janos Gal at Department of Rheumatology, County Hospital, Kecskemet and dr. Imre Ocsovszky at Department of Biochemistry University of Szeged.

I thank all the love and patience of my wife Anna Boloni and my family that provided me a stable background.

This work was supported in part by grants from Hungarian Research Grants OTKA (T042455) and ETT (124/2003).

¥